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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated 
entity, the full name under which the entity exists and carries on business and 
the address of the Issuer's head and registered office. 

  
 BacTech Environmental Corporation. Head office: 50 Richmond Street East, 

Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario M5C 1N7.    
 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or 

organized or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the 
jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under which the Issuer is established and 
exists.   Describe the substance of any material amendments to the articles or 
other constating or establishing documents of the Issuer. 

 
 Federally incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act by Articles 

of Incorporation, October 5, 2010, and pursuant to the completion of a Plan of 
Arrangement on December 2, 2010.  Information on the Plan of Arrangement 
can be found in the Management Information Circular of REBgold Corporation 
(formerly known as BacTech Mining Corporation) dated October 14, 2010 and 
posted on the Corporation’s website and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships 

among the Issuer and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each subsidiary state  
 

(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary 
represented by voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control 
or direction is exercised, by the Issuer;  

 
(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, or 

over which control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer. 
 
The Corporation has one wholly-owned subsidiary, BacTech Manitoba Corp., 
incorporated February 24, 2012 under The Corporations Act (Manitoba), by 
Articles of Incorporation. BacTech Environmental Corporation owns 100% of the 
common voting shares of BacTech Manitoba Corp. 
 

2.4 If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing an 
acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, describe by 
way of diagram or otherwise these intercorporate relationships both before and 
after the completion of the proposed transaction. 

 
Not applicable. 
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2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must 
describe how their governing legislation or constating documents differ 
materially from Canadian corporate legislation with respect to the corporate 
governance principles set out in Policy 4. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three most 

recently completed financial years and any subsequent period.  Include only 
major events or conditions that have influenced the general development of the 
Issuer's business.  If the business consists of the production or distribution of 
more than one product or the rendering of more than one kind of service, 
describe the principal products or services.  Also discuss changes in the 
business of the Issuer that are expected to occur during the current financial 
year of the Issuer. 

 
BacTech Environmental Corporation (the "Company" or "BEC") was 
incorporated by REBgold Corporation ("REBgold" and formerly known as 
BacTech Mining Corporation) on October 5, 2010 under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act. Through the completion of the Plan of Arrangement 
transaction as described below, the Company was granted a license to use 
REBgold Corporation’s proprietary bioleaching technology in the remediation 
business for mining. The technology utilizes bacteria to liberate precious and 
base metals and has been traditionally used to treat difficult-to-treat sulphide 
ores and concentrates. The business plan for the Company is to apply the 
bioleaching technology to abatement and reclamation projects to remove 
harmful elements such as arsenic and sulphur from the environment, where this 
can be assisted by a positive cash flow from metal recovery. Examples of metals 
which can be extracted include gold, silver, cobalt, nickel, copper, uranium and 
zinc. 

 
Bioleaching is an environmentally-friendly process technology for treating 
difficult-to-treat sulphide ores and concentrates.  By replacing smelting and/or 
roasting with a bioleach process, the production of sulphur dioxide emissions, 
which is the primary source of acid rain, and arsenic trioxide is eliminated.  
Furthermore, the capital and operating costs of a bioleach facility are 
significantly less when compared to other existing treatment methods. 

 
Plan of Arrangement 
 
Effective December 2, 2010, REBgold completed a divisive reorganization by 
way of a Plan of Arrangement (the "Arrangement") whereby a newly-formed 
subsidiary, BacTech Environmental Corporation, was granted rights and 
interests in REBgold's existing and proposed tailings remediation projects and 
an exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free licence to use REBgold’s proprietary 
bioleaching technology for reclamation of historic mine tailings and waste rock. 
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REBgold retained the primary rights to the bioleaching technology, as well as all 
of REBgold’s existing mining assets. 

 
REBgold shareholders voted in favour of the Arrangement at a special meeting 
of shareholders held on November 12, 2010. Subsequent to the Arrangement, 
BEC started to trade on the Canadian National Stock Exchange under the 
symbol “BAC” and REBgold continued to trade on the TSX Venture Exchange 
under the symbol “RBG”. 

 
Under the terms of the Arrangement, REBgold's shareholders received, in 
exchange for each existing common share of REBgold, one new common share 
of REBgold (formerly BacTech Mining Corporation) and one-fifth of a common 
share of BacTech Environmental Corporation. 

 
BacTech Manitoba Corp. 
 
BacTech Manitoba Corp. was incorporated in February 2012 by the Company.  
Currently, there are no assets in BacTech Manitoba Corp.  It is expected that the 
operations to be conducted in Snow Lake, Manitoba will be held through this 
wholly-owned subsidiary. 

 
3.2 Disclose: 
 

(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  significant 
probable acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for which financial 
statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 
General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a 
prospectus; and 

 
(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the most 

recently completed financial year or the current financial year for 
which pro forma financial statements would be required under 
National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus.  

 
Not applicable. 

 
(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 

 
(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired or 

disposed of; 
 

(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or 
significant disposition; 

 
(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to be 

paid, to or by the Issuer; 
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(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any 

significant acquisition or significant disposition agreement in good 
standing; 

 
(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition on the 

operating results and financial position of the Issuer; 
 

(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required 
under Canadian securities legislation, a directive of a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority, or a requirement of a Canadian stock 
exchange or other Canadian market to support the value of the 
consideration received or paid by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
for the assets, including the name of the author, the date of the 
opinion, the assets to which the opinion relates and the value 
attributed to the assets; and 

 
(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and if so, 

disclose the identity of the other parties and the relationship of the 
other parties to the Issuer. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently 

known to management and reasonably expected to have a material effect on 
the Issuer's business, financial condition or results of operations, providing 
forward-looking information based on the Issuer's expectations as of the date of 
the Listing Statement. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable 
operating segments as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's business 
in general.  Include the following for each reportable operating segment of 
the Issuer: 

 
(a) state the business objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish in 

the forthcoming 12-month period; 
 
(b) describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for the 

business objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the specific 
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time period in which each event is expected to occur and the costs 
related to each event; 

 
(c) disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following 

breakdown of those funds: 
 

(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of the 
most recent month end prior to filing the Listing Statement, and 

 
(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, available to 

be used to achieve the objectives and milestones set out in 
paragraphs (a) and (b); and 

 
(d) describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, 

each of the principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which 
the funds available described under the preceding paragraph will be 
used by the Issuer. 

 
Snow Lake Arsenopyrite Concentrate Stockpile - Manitoba 

 
In early 2010, the Company pursued a reclamation opportunity in Snow 
Lake, Manitoba.  In the 1950’s, a gold mine named Nor-Acme was opened 
and operated at Snow Lake, Manitoba.  Approximately 10% of the ore was 
classified as arsenopyrite (arsenic bearing) and refractory in nature, which 
required additional treatment to liberate the gold for recovery.  Given the 
high levels of arsenic that reported to the concentrate, conventional 
roasting or smelting were ruled out as process options and the concentrate 
was treated by direct cyanidation to recover as much gold as possible.  The 
residue was stockpiled at the mine site to await future technologies 
capable of extracting the remaining gold values. 
  
The Company approached the Manitoba Ministry of Innovation, Energy and 
Mines in April 2010 and outlined a plan whereby the Company, at its own 
expense, would use samples obtained from the concentrate stockpile to 
determine whether the material was amenable to bioleaching for liberating 
and extracting the gold while stabilizing the arsenic. The Manitoba 
government granted approval for the Company to conduct the sampling 
program, subject to oversight by an independent engineering consulting 
firm which the government engaged to ensure that there would be no 
adverse environmental impacts from drilling the arsenopyrite stockpile. 

 
In February 2011, BacTech tendered a proposal for the remediation of the 
arsenopyrite stockpile at Snow Lake under a request for proposals (“RFP”) 
from Manitoba Innovation, Energy and Mines. In April 2011, BacTech was 
awarded the contract by the Mines Branch of the Manitoba Department of 
Innovation, Energy and Mines.  The contract was finalized in December 
2011.  BacTech has proposed a “no cost to the taxpayer” approach to the 
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clean up.  The Company will recover payable metals for its own account 
from the stockpile, while stabilizing the contained arsenic.  

 
In May 2011, BacTech announced the completion of a drill program carried 
out at the arsenopyrite concentrate stockpile.  A total of 299.3 meters of 
sonic drilling were completed in 33 holes.  The holes were drilled on a grid 
at 20 m spacing to obtain a representative sample from the entire stockpile.  
One half of the core was retained in Snow Lake as a permanent record, with 
half the core taken for geochemical, metallurgical and bioleach testing 
samples.  Some 432 geochemical samples were taken at 50 cm intervals of 
which 236 were used for a resource calculation.  Saskatchewan Research 
Council in Saskatoon completed the fire assaying.  In July 2011, the 
Company released the drill results of the program.  An average grade of 9.7 
g/t gold was obtained from the 33-hole program, which is consistent with 
previous historic results. Given the large number of samples, the Company 
advises the reader to visit the BacTech website at www.bactechgreen.com 
to view a complete list of the drill holes and related samples. 

 On October 17, 2011, the Company announced the results of a National 
Instrument 43-101 technical report for the Snow Lake, Manitoba, 
arsenopyrite residue stockpile (ARS) compiled by Ralph Newson, P.Geo., 
the independent qualified person who authored the report. The following 
information is based on the technical report on the Snow Lake Project 
which is available on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 
Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com, and also on the Company’s website. 
The technical report outlines a measured mineral resource of 265,000 
tonnes grading 9.7 grams per tonne gold and 2.17 g/t silver for the 
stockpile. In addition, an indicated mineral reserve of 9,300 tonnes grading 
9.2 g/t gold and 2.15 g/t silver is estimated, as is a further inferred mineral 
reserve of 28,000 tonnes grading 7 g/t gold and 2.4 g/t silver.  The samples 
were assayed at Inspectorate Exploration and Mining Services Ltd. in 
Richmond, B.C., an approved assay facility.  The accompanying table 
outlines the total ounces for the various resource calculations.   

                                      Gold                      Silver 
                         Tonnes       (g/t)    Ounces         (g/t)    Ounces 
 
Measured resource      265,000        9.7     82,643         2.17     18,488 
Indicated resource           9,300        9.2       2,750         2.15          642 
Inferred resource           28,000        7.0       6,300         2.4         2,160   
 

The drill samples collected from the arsenopyrite stockpile were also used 
to determine the metallurgical variability of the stockpile, evaluate pre-
treatment scenarios and costs, continue bioleach work on a larger scale for 
gold extraction, as well as to study the detox/arsenic stability for the 
oxidized end product. 

On March 20, 2012, the Company announced results of the bioleach study 
program it had been working on for several months.  The patented BACOX 

http://www.sedar.com/
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bio-oxidation process oxidized over 95 per cent of the sulphides.  This 
study definitively demonstrates the technology’s ability in eliminating 
future acid mine drainage and the environmental problems associated with 
the stockpile, which is one of the key drivers of the project.  In addition, the 
bio-oxidation process rendered 88.6 per cent of the gold contained in the 
sulphides available for extraction, compared with only 9.4 per cent using 
conventional gold extraction without oxidation.  

The bioleach study is an integral part of the Preliminary Economic 
Assessment (“PEA”) prepared by Micon International Limited, which was 
announced by press release on August 27, 2012, with the full PEA released 
on October 12, 2012. The PEA demonstrates an economic project to 
remediate the ARS at current market conditions. The following summary is 
taken from the press release and the PEA which are filed on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com, and on the Company’s website.  

The bioleach process will generate two (2) streams; one (1) being a stable 
ferric arsenate precipitate preventing any further leaching of arsenic into 
the environment; and two (2) will be a gold residue concentrate. BacTech is 
presently negotiating with the Town of Snow Lake to acquire a property for 
the bioleach plant that sits adjacent to the ARS. This will provide for 
relatively easy access to and from the plant and keep noise and dust at a 
minimum. Approximately 1.4 km from the proposed plant site are several 
clay pits that were recently excavated to source clay for projects in the 
local area. It is BacTech’s intention to pipe and safely dispose of the stable 
ferric arsenate to one of the nearby pits for storage, water recycling, and 
subsequent clay capping at the end of the project. Concurrent with the 
PEA, BacTech engaged Golder Associates to provide baseline 
environmental studies for the proposed plant site and the clay 
impoundment pits, as well as formal submission of environmental 
operating permits and closure plan to Manitoba Conservation. 

In November 2012, the Company completed the drilling of test holes with a 
continuous flight auger drill rig on the proposed bioleach plant site to 
provide detailed data on the site conditions to begin the Front End 
Engineering Design (“FEED”) – civil specifications for the plant and tank 
farm areas. In addition, the Company submitted their Environmental Act 
Proposal (“EAP”) to the Director of the Environmental Assessment and 
Licensing Branch, Manitoba Conservation and Water Stewardship. The 
EAP was completed by Golder Associates Ltd. of Winnipeg, Manitoba, 
under direction by the BacTech technical team. In February of 2013, 
BacTech’s EAP was posted for public comment by the Environmental 
Approvals Branch of the Manitoba Department of Conservation and Water 
Stewardship. The deadline for submission of comments was March 15, 
2013. The Company has received the comments and is in the process of 
preparing responses to all comments and will have the formal responses 
submitted for review in May 2013.   

 

http://www.sedar.com/


 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 10 

 
  

In January 2013, the Company engaged the services of Tetra Tech to 
provide FEED for the bioleach plant. Tetra Tech has extensive engineering 
and design knowledge with regard to the bioleach process and will be 
responsible for the process overview, equipment review and specifications, 
and other associated process details. The FEED work should be completed 
in May 2013. The results of the FEED package will be the basis for the 
detailed design engineering phase of the Snow Lake plant that will include 
civil, mechanical, electrical, and process automation. 
 
Future Plans 

 
As disclosed in the press release dated August 27, 2012, the proposed 
Snow Lake bioleach plant is designed to treat 109 tonnes of concentrate 
per day from the ARS. This provides for a project life of approximately 7 
years to remediate the ARS safely and benefit from an annual gold 
production of 10,400 oz/y. At a base case gold price of US$1,396/oz and 
88.6% gold recovery (the 3 year trailing average gold price at the time of the 
Micon PEA), the direct operating cost is $671/oz gold. Royalties and the 
cost for gold recovery through offsite toll treatment add $302/oz, bringing 
the total cash cost to $973/oz. CAPEX, including a 10% contingency for the 
project, is estimated to be CAD$21.4 million. BacTech continues to identify 
and evaluate additional feeds that potentially can add to the operational life 
of the plant. 
 
The operations include BacTech transporting the oxidized gold (post 
bioleaching) to a 3rd party for gold recovery. This is an expensive process 
that adds significant costs to the operations.  The Company is searching 
for a more permanent and inexpensive method for years 2 and onward. One 
possible solution includes the installation of its own CIL plant for 
recovering gold in Snow Lake.  The process to apply for the appropriate 
permits could take up to 12 months for approval which is after the start 
date of the plant.   

 
Patent: Bioleaching Process Produces Liquid Ferric Sulfate 
 
In June 2012, the Company filed a provisional patent application for a new 
invention relating to bioleaching. The patent application covers the use of 
bioleaching as a means of manufacturing liquid ferric sulphate. 
 
Ferric sulfate is a staple chemical with a wide range of applications. In 
conventional water treatment processes, it is commonly used as a 
coagulant to remove turbidity, colour, phosphate, and heavy metals. In the 
mining industry, ferric sulfate is not only a leaching lixiviant in various 
processes treating copper concentrates and uranium ores, but also a 
reagent commonly used to control arsenic in metal mining effluents.  

 
The discovery of the invention arises from BacTech’s bioleach work at 
Snow Lake, Manitoba. The invention provides for the onsite production of 
ferric sulfate using pyrite as a source and thereby eliminating the costly 
transportation of the liquid product. With the formula FeS2, pyrite is the 
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most common sulfide mineral and is widely associated with other metal 
sulfide deposits. Unless it contains valuable metals to be recovered, pyrite 
is usually rejected into tailings through the flotation processes at a mine 
site. Such tailings represent a large disposal problem because pyrite gets 
oxidized and generates sulfuric acid after being exposed to air and water. 
With this new invention, mine tailings at existing operations can be 
refloated to provide a cheap source of material for the creation of ferric 
sulfate.  

 
The current business plan encompasses the selling of single bioleach tank 
plants that can be delivered and built onsite for the customer. The single 
bioleach plant is envisioned to be ideal for remote locations where ferric 
sulfate cannot be obtained or in larger high volume locations to eliminate 
the costly and hazardous trucking of ferric sulfate through urban areas.  
The payback for the investment by the customer should be relatively short, 
given the low cost of pyrite feed stock and simple, unsophisticated 
operation of the bioleach plant.  

 
The provisional patent is an alternative application of REBgold 
Corporation’s bioleaching technology. BacTech owns a perpetual, 
exclusive license to the bioleach technology for tailings’ reclamation and is 
allowed, under the agreement with REBgold Corporation, to own any 
improvements made to the technology. The Company and REBgold 
Corporation have negotiated an amendment to the licence agreement to 
specifically address the use of this application, which, as of the date of this 
report, has not been finalized. This patent is the invention of various 
contractors to the Company and they have assigned their rights in the 
invention to the Company subject to the terms of a royalty agreement.   

 
The Company is exploring possible partnerships or strategic agreements 
with other companies that already operate in this industry. 

 
Bolivia 

 
In January 2013, the Company announced that it had signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) with the Corporación Minera de 
Bolivia (“COMIBOL”), the Bolivian state-owned mining company, for the 
Telamayu tailings site in Bolivia. Telamayu is a former mill site and 
consists of two tailings deposits created through custom milling for 
numerous mines in the area. Highlights of the MOU include:  

  
• COMIBOL and BacTech will be 50/50 partners in a Joint Venture 
(“JV”) Bolivian company;  
• COMIBOL will provide the JV with suitable tailings for reprocessing 
and make existing infrastructure available; 
•  BacTech holds the right to export concentrates from the Telamayu 
Tailings site for bioleaching at its discretion; and 
• BacTech will provide all capital necessary to undertake a study of 
the Telamayu tailings, including flotation and bioleach testwork.  
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BacTech had previously announced assay results from a composite sample 
taken in May 2012 from one of the two tailings sites. Silver and copper 
values were 282 g/t and 1.7% respectively, illustrating the high-grade nature 
of the tailings. This compared favorably with COMIBOL's results from a 2005 
sampling and assay program that reported 258 g/t Ag and 1.05% Cu. The 
composite sample was bagged, sealed at the Telamayu mill and then 
shipped to Lima, Peru by SGS Bolivia S.A. ("SGS"), and subsequently 
transferred to Inspectorate Exploration and Mining Services Ltd. 
("Inspectorate") for assaying. A representative of SGS supervised the 
sampling program. The assay work on the composite sample was conducted 
by Inspectorate in Vancouver, Canada.   
 
COMIBOL has estimated that there are approximately 2.3million tonnes of 
tailings attributable to the above assay results, and across the river lie an 
additional 3 million tonnes of tailings from the same sources. To date, no 
investigation has been initiated at the larger site. In addition, there are two 
additional tailings sites within 50 km that could be investigated in the future. 

 
The Company’s next steps include completing the floatation and bioleach 
testwork to assess the projects economic viability.  If economically positive, 
BacTech’s preliminary plan includes the installation of a flotation  plant at 
the Telamayu site to produce a concentrate that will be exported to a nearby 
country for bioleach treatment. At present, BacTech is entertaining different 
scenarios for locating a bioleach plant to process concentrates from Bolivian 
tailings.   Access to limestone and power costs are just two factors that need 
to be taken into consideration.   A decision will be made this year should the 
project prove to be economic.  

 
Other Projects 

 
The Company continues to evaluate other projects in Canada, Mexico, South 
America and Europe.  

 
Instruction: 
(1) The description of the Issuer's business objectives should also provide the context for the 

description of the milestones which are required to be disclosed. For example, one 
business objective of an Issuer may be to commence marketing and licencing technology 
nationally through direct sales and a network of agents; a milestone may be to conduct 
four feasibility studies over the next ten months to facilitate marketing of the technology, 
with an anticipated cost of $X for the studies. 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(b), examples of significant events would include the 
hiring of key personnel, making major capital acquisitions, obtaining necessary regulatory 
approvals, implementing marketing plans and strategies and commencing production and 
sales. 

 
(2) For principal products or services describe: 

 
a) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 
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b) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most recently 
completed financial years, the revenues for each category of principal 
products or services that accounted for 15 per cent or more of total 
consolidated revenues for the applicable financial year derived from: 

(i) sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is a 
participant or to entities in which your company has an 
investment accounted for by the equity method, 

(ii) sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause (i), 
outside the consolidated entity,  

(iii) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 

(iv)  sales or transfers to investees. 
 

c) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal 
products or services and, if the products are not at the commercial 
production stage, 

 
(i) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 
 
(ii) the major components of the proposed programs, including an 

estimate of anticipated costs, 
 
(iii) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and 

development, is subcontracting out the research and 
development or is using a combination of those methods, and 

 
(iv) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and 

an estimate of costs and timing. 
  

Please refer to (1) above.  
 

(3) Concerning production and sales, disclose: 
 

a) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the 
Issuer provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing 
services; 

 
b) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal options 

of any material leases or mortgages, whether they are in good 
standing and, if applicable, that the landlord or mortgagee is a Related 
Person of the Issuer; 
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c) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that the 
skill and knowledge are available to the Issuer; 

 

d) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts 
or finished products; 

 
e) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable 

intangible properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, 
franchises, licences, patents, software, subscription lists and 
trademarks; 

 
f) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or seasonal; 

 

g) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be 
affected in the 12 months following the date of the Listing Statement by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts and the likely 
effect; 

 
h) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection 

requirements on the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive 
position of the Issuer in the current financial year and the expected 
effect, on future years; 

 
i) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end or 

as an average over that year, whichever is more relevant; 
 
j) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any 

dependence of the segments upon the foreign operations; 
 
k) a description of any contract upon which your company's business is 

substantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part of 
your company's products or services or to purchase the major part of 
your company's requirements for goods, services or raw materials, or 
any franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, 
trade secret, process or trade name upon which your company's 
business depends; 

 
l) a description of any aspect of your company's business that you 

reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely 
effect. 

 
Please refer to (1) above. 
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(4) Describe the competitive conditions in the principal markets and geographic 
areas in which the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably possible, an 
assessment of the Issuer's competitive position. 

 
General Risk 

  
The Company’s strategy emphasizes developing projects in order to 
leverage its intellectual property and drive the creation of shareholder value.  
This strategy has required, and continues to require, significant financings, 
and is subject to risks associated with mineral prices, mineral resources and 
operations.  Due to the nature of the Company’s business, the present stage 
of development of its projects, and the constraints placed upon the 
Company’s ability to move forward by its current liquidity situation, readers 
should carefully review and consider the financial, environmental and 
operational risk factors affecting the Company. 

 
Competition 

 
The Company competes with other engineering companies for the 
acquisition of mineral rich mine tailings and mine waste that can be 
developed economically.  The Company competes with other engineering 
companies that have greater financial and technical resources and 
experience.  Such competition may result in the Company being unable to 
acquire desired properties, to recruit or retain qualified employees, or to 
acquire the capital necessary to fund its operations and develop its 
properties. The inability of the Company to compete with other engineering 
companies for these resources would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s results of operations and business. 

 
Currently, the Company’s bioleaching technology does not operate in an 
overly competitive marketplace; however the Company anticipates that it 
may face increased competition in the future, as advanced technologies 
become available. While management believes that the Company’s 
technology is more advanced, commercially proven and better situated than 
its competitors, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
effectively compete with companies who have or may develop similar 
technologies and may possess greater financial resources and technical 
facilities. Competitive pressures, or the inability of the Company to 
successfully license its technology on terms that are acceptable, may have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and 
financial condition.  

(5) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, describe the 
investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
(6) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership or 

similar proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or any 
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voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Issuer or 
any of its subsidiaries, within the three most recently completed financial 
years or the current financial year. 

 
Not applicable. 

(7) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction of 
the Issuer within the three most recently completed financial years or 
completed during or proposed for the current financial year. 

 
Plan of Arrangement (completed December 2, 2010) 
 
Effective December 2, 2010, REBgold completed a divisive reorganization by 
way of a Plan of Arrangement (the "Arrangement") whereby a newly formed 
subsidiary, BacTech Environmental Corporation (“BEC”), was granted rights 
and interests in REBgold's existing and proposed tailings remediation 
projects and an exclusive, perpetual, royalty-free licence to use REBgold’s 
proprietary bioleaching technology for reclamation of historic mine tailings 
and waste rock. REBgold retained the primary rights to the bioleaching 
technology, as well as all of the existing mining assets. 

 
REBgold shareholders voted in favour of the Arrangement at a special 
meeting of shareholders held on November 12, 2010. Subsequent to the 
Arrangement, BacTech Environmental Corporation started to trade on the 
Canadian National Stock Exchange under the symbol “BAC” and REBgold 
continued to trade on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol “RBG”. 

 
Under the terms of the Arrangement, REBgold's shareholders received, in 
exchange for each existing common share of REBgold, one new common 
share of REBgold, and one-fifth of a common share of BacTech 
Environmental Corporation. 

 
The Notice of Meeting and Management Information Circular dated October 
14, 2010 for REBgold (formerly known as BacTech Mining Corporation”) were 
mailed to shareholders on October 21, 2010.  The Notice of Meeting and 
Circular are posted on SEDAR (www.sedar.com) and on REBgold’s website, 
www.reb-gold.com. 

 
As the Arrangement resulted in no substantial change of ownership, the 
exchange of net assets pursuant to the Arrangement was measured at its net 
book value, and recorded on the books of Company, as follows: 

  

http://www.reb-gold.com/
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Mineral properties and deferred exploration 
costs transferred from REBgold 

 
$   463,984 

Accounts payable transferred from REBgold (49,946) 
Book value of debentures payable assumed by 
REBgold 

(66,642) 

Loan payable to REBgold  (250,000) 
Net reduction in contributed surplus $    97,396 

 
 
The Company assumed 20% of the face value of REBgold’s convertible 
debentures liability. Upon maturity, BacTech Environmental Corporation will 
repay to REBgold, 20% of the principal plus 20% of the interest accrued from 
December 2, 2010 to maturity.  REBgold remained indebted to the debenture 
holders for the full principal of the debenture.  For every share of REBgold 
issued in the event of a conversion, one-fifth of a common share of BacTech 
Environmental Corporation will be issued.  For additional information on the 
Debenture, please refer to Note 5 of the audited annual financial statements 
for the period ended December 31, 2012. 
 

(8) If the Issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are 
fundamental to the Issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the Issuer’s 
relationship with the environment or with the communities in which the Issuer 
does business, or human rights policies, describe them and the steps the Issuer 
has taken to implement them. 

Not applicable. 
 
Instruction: 
(1) The Issuer's stated business objectives must not include any prospective financial 

information with respect to sales, whether expressed in terms of dollars or units, 
unless the information is derived from future-oriented financial information issued 
in accordance with National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations 
or any successor instrument and is included in the Listing Statement. 

(2) Where sales performance is considered to be an important objective, it must be 
stated in general terms.  For example, the Issuer may state that it anticipates 
generating sufficient cash flow from sales to pay its operating cost for a specified 
period. 

Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding 

4.2 In respect of any outstanding asset-backed securities, disclose the following 
information: 

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or 
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or 
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amount of any payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed 
securities. 

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the three most recently completed financial 
years of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date on 
which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, information 
on the pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities relating 
to 

(a) the composition of the pool as of the end of each financial year or partial 
period; 

(b) income and losses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such 
shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of 
assets; 

(c) the payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at 
least an annual basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the 
nature of the underlying pool of assets; 

(d) servicing and other administrative fees; and 

(e) any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in 
paragraphs (a), (b), (c), or (d). 

(3) Investment Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to 
investments of any cash flow surpluses. 

(4) Payment History - The amount of payments made during the three most 
recently completed financial years or the lesser period commencing on the 
first date on which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, 
in respect of principal and interest or capital and yield, each stated 
separately, on asset-backed securities of your company outstanding. 

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the 
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest 
or capital of asset-backed securities. 

 
(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding 

asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of 
financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities represented by 
obligations of each principal obligor and whether the principal obligor has 
filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form 10-K, Form 10-KSB or Form 20F 
in the United States. 

 
Not applicable. 
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4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose and insert here the information required 
by Appendix A for each property material to the Issuer. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
4.4 For Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations disclose and insert here the information 

required by Appendix B (in tabular form, if appropriate). 
  
 Not applicable. 
 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in 

summary form for each of the last three completed financial years and any 
period subsequent to the most recent financial year end for which financial 
statements have been prepared, accompanied by a discussion of the factors 
affecting the comparability of the data, including discontinued operations, 
changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or significant 
dispositions and major changes in the direction of the Issuer's business: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 

 
(b) income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis and 

fully diluted per share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 
 

(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per share 
basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 

 
(d) total assets; 

 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook; 

 
(f) cash dividends declared per share for each class of share; and 
 
(g) such other information as would enhance an investor’s understanding of 

the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations and would 
highlight other trends in financial condition and results of operations. 

 
See the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, Section C. 

 
5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed quarters 

ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the 
information required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 5.1. 
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See the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, Section G. 

 
5.3 Dividends – disclose: 
 

(a) any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends; and 
 

(b) the Issuer's dividend policy and, if a decision has been made to change 
the dividend policy, the intended change in dividend policy. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated financial 

information required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP if: 
 

(a) the Issuer's primary financial statements have been prepared using 
foreign GAAP; and 

 
(b) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have 

reconciled its financial statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of filing 
its financial statements or the Issuer has otherwise done so, a cross 
reference to the notes to the financial statements containing the 
reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian GAAP is included. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 

The Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 is attached. 

 
Annual MD&A 
 

6.1 Date - Specify the date of the MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no 
earlier than the date of the auditor’s report on the financial statements for 
the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year. 

 
April 29, 2013 

 
6.2 Overall Performance - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows. Discuss known trends, 
demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably likely 
to have an effect on the Issuer’s business. Compare the Issuer’s 
performance in the most recently completed financial year to the prior 
year’s performance. The analysis should address at least the following: 
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(a) operating segments that are reportable segments as those terms 
are used in the Handbook; 

 
(b) other parts of the business if 
 

(i) they have a disproportionate effect on revenues, income or 
cash needs, or 

 
(ii) there are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds 

from one part of the Issuer’s business to another;  
 
(c) industry and economic factors affecting the Issuer’s performance; 
 
(d) why changes have occurred or expected changes have not 

occurred in the Issuer’s financial condition and results of 
operations; and 

 
(e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations. 
 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Sections A and B, a copy of which is 
attached. 

 
Selected Annual Financial Information 
 
6.3 Provide the following financial data derived from the Issuer’s financial 

statements for each of the three most recently completed financial years: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary 

items, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-

share basis; 
 
(d) total assets; 
 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities; and 
 
(f) cash dividends declared per-share for each class of share. 
 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section C, a copy of which is attached. 

 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 22 

 
  

6.4 Variations - Discuss the factors that have caused period to period 
variations including discontinued operations, changes in accounting 
policies, significant acquisitions or dispositions and changes in the 
direction of the Issuer’s business, and any other information the Issuer 
believes would enhance an understanding of, and would highlight trends 
in, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section D, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.5 Results of Operations - Discuss management’s analysis of the Issuer’s 

operations for the most recently completed financial year, including: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues by operating business segment, 
including any changes in such amounts caused by selling prices, 
volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or the 
introduction of new products or services; 

 
(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in net sales or 

total revenues; 
 
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; 
 
(d) for Issuers that have significant projects that have not yet 

generated operating revenue, describe each project, including the 
Issuer’s plan for the project and the status of the project relative to 
that plan, and expenditures made and how these relate to 
anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of 
the project plan; 

 
(e) for resource Issuers with producing mines, identify milestones such 

as mine expansion plans, productivity improvements, or plans to 
develop a new deposit; 

 
(f) factors that caused a change in the relationship between costs and 

revenues, including changes in costs of labour or materials, price 
changes or inventory adjustments; 

 
(g) commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably 

believe will materially affect the Issuer’s future performance 
including net sales, total revenue and income or loss before 
discontinued operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(h) effect of inflation and specific price changes on the Issuer’s net 

sales and total revenues and on income or loss before discontinued 
operations and extraordinary items; 
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(i) a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made 

about how the Issuer was going to use proceeds (other than 
working capital) from any financing, an explanation of variances 
and the impact of the variances, if any, on the Issuer’s ability to 
achieve its business objectives and milestones; and 

 
(j) unusual or infrequent events or transactions. 
 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section D, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.6 Summary of Quarterly Results - Provide the following information in 

summary form, derived from the Issuer’s financial statements, for each of 
the eight most recently completed quarters: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary 

items, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-

share basis. 
 

Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the quarters 
necessary to understand general trends that have developed and the 
seasonality of the business. 

 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section G, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.7 Liquidity - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s liquidity, including: 

 
(a) its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash 

equivalents, in the short term and the long term, to maintain the 
Issuer’s capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to fund 
development activities; 

 
(b) trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s liquidity, taking into 

account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties; 
 
(c) its working capital requirements; 
 
(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments; 
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(e) if the Issuer has or expects to have a working capital deficiency, 
discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how 
you expect it to remedy the deficiency; 

 
(f) balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may 

affect the Issuer’s liquidity; 
 
(g) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer 

funds to the Issuer and the effect these restrictions have had or 
may have on the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations; and 

 
(h) defaults or arrears or anticipated defaults or arrears on 
 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal 
payment on debt, 

(ii) debt covenants during the most recently completed financial 
year, and 

(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments; and 
 

(i) details on how the Issuer intends to cure the default or arrears. 
 

Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section E, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.8 Capital Resources - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s capital resources, 
including 

 
(a) commitments for capital expenditures as of the date of the Issuer’s 

financial statements including: 
 
(i) the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments, 
 
(ii) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments, 

and 
 
(iii) expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain the 

Issuer’s capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to 
fund development activities; 

 
(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s capital 

resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost 
of these resources; and 

 
(c) sources of financing that the Issuer has arranged but not yet used. 
 
Not applicable. 
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6.9 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements - Discuss any off-balance sheet 

arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or 
future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Issuer 
including, without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital 
resources. This discussion shall include their business purpose and 
activities, their economic substance, risks associated with the 
arrangements, and the key terms and conditions associated with any 
commitments, including: 

 
(a) a description of the other contracting part(ies); 
 
(b) the effects of terminating the arrangement; 
 
(c) the amounts receivable or payable, revenues, expenses and cash 

flows resulting from the arrangement; 
 
(d) the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising 

from the arrangement that could require the Issuer to provide 
funding under the arrangement and the triggering events or 
circumstances that could cause them to arise; and 

 
(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect 

the availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any 
termination) and the course of action that management has taken, 
or proposes to take, in response to any such circumstances. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
6.10 Transactions with Related Parties - Discuss all transactions involving 
related parties as defined by the Handbook. 
 

Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Note 10, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.11 Fourth Quarter - Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that 

affected the Issuer’s financial condition, cash flows or results of 
operations, including extraordinary items, year-end and other adjustments, 
seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business and dispositions of business 
segments. 

 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section F, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.12 Proposed Transactions - Discuss the expected effect on financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows of any proposed asset or 
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business acquisition or disposition if the Issuer’s board of directors, or 
senior management who believe that confirmation of the decision by the 
board is probable, have decided to proceed with the transaction. Include 
the status of any required shareholder or regulatory approvals. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
6.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption - Discuss and 

analyze any changes in the Issuer’s accounting policies, including: 
 

(a) for any accounting policies that management has adopted or 
expects to adopt subsequent to the end of the most recently 
completed financial year, including changes management has 
made or expects to make voluntarily and those due to a change in 
an accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do 
not have to adopt until a future date:  
 
(i) describe the new standard, the date the Issuer required to 

adopt it and, if determined, the date the Issuer plans to adopt 
it, 

 
(ii) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the 

accounting standard and the method management expects 
to use, 

 
(iii) discuss the expected effect on the Issuer’s financial 

statements, or if applicable, state that management cannot 
reasonably estimate the effect, and 

 
(iv) discuss the potential effect on the Issuer’s business, for 

example technical violations or default of debt covenants or 
changes in business practices; and 

 
(b) for any accounting policies that management has initially adopted 

during the most recently completed financial year,  
 
(i) describe the events or transactions that gave rise to the 

initial adoption of an accounting policy, 
 
(ii) describe the accounting principle that has been adopted and 

the method of applying that principle, 
 
(iii) discuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the 

accounting policy on the Issuer’s financial condition, 
changes in financial condition and results of operations, 
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(iv) if the Issuer is permitted a choice among acceptable 
accounting principles, 
 
(A) state that management made a choice among 

acceptable alternatives, 
 
(B) identify the alternatives, 
 
(C) describe why management made the choice that you 

did, and 
 
(D) discuss the effect, where material, on the Issuer’s 

financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
results of operations under the alternatives not 
chosen; and 

 
(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting 

for the events or transactions giving rise to management’s 
initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain 
management’s decision regarding which accounting principle 
to use and the method of applying that principle. 

 
Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Notes 2 & 3, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments - For financial instruments 

and other instruments: 
 

(a) discuss the nature and extent of the Issuer’s use of, including 
relationships among, the instruments and the business purposes 
that they serve; 

 
(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the instruments; 
 
(c) describe how management manages the risks in paragraph (b), 

including a discussion of the objectives, general strategies and 
instruments used to manage the risks, including any hedging 
activities; 

 
(d) disclose the financial statement classification and amounts of 

income, expenses, gains and losses associated with the 
instrument; and 

 
(e) discuss the significant assumptions made in determining the fair 

value of financial instruments, the total amount and financial 
statement classification of the change in fair value of financial 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 28 

 
  

instruments recognized in income for the period, and the total 
amount and financial statement classification of deferred or 
unrecognized gains and losses on financial instruments. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
Interim MD&A 

 
6.15 Date - Specify the date of the interim MD&A. 
 
6.16 Updated Disclosure - Interim MD&A must update the Issuer’s annual 

MD&A for all disclosure required by sections 6.2 to 6.14 except sections 
6.3 and 6.4. This disclosure must include: 

 
(a) a discussion of management’s analysis of 
 

(i) current quarter and year-to-date results including a 
comparison of results of operations and cash flows to the 
corresponding periods in the previous year; 

 
(ii) changes in results of operations and elements of income or 

loss that are not related to ongoing business operations; 
 
(iii) any seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business that affect its 

financial condition, results of operations or cash flows; and 
 
(b) a comparison of the Issuer’s interim financial condition to the 

Issuer’s financial condition as at the most recently completed 
financial year-end. 

 
Not applicable.   

 
6.17 Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue: 
 

(a) unless the information is disclosed in the financial statements to 
which the annual or interim MD&A relates, an Issuer that has not 
had significant revenue from operations in either of its last two 
financial years must disclose a breakdown of material components 
of: 

 
(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 
 
(ii) expensed research and development costs, 
 
(iii) deferred development costs, 
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 29 

 
  

(iv) general and administration expenses, and 
 
(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or expensed, 

not referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 
 

(b) if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining exploration and 
development, the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration 
and development costs must be presented on a property-by-
property basis; and 

 
(c) the disclosure in the annual MD&A must be for the two most 

recently completed financial years and the disclosure in the interim 
MD&A for the each year-to-date interim period and the comparative 
period presented in the interim statements. 

 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, a copy of which is attached. 

6.18 Description of Securities: 

(a) disclose the designation and number or principal amount of: 

(i) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the 
Issuer for which there are securities outstanding, 

(ii) each class and series of securities of the Issuer for which 
there are securities outstanding if the securities are 
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, voting or 
equity securities of the Issuer, and 

(iii) subject to subsection (b), each class and series of voting or 
equity securities of the Issuer that are issuable on the 
conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of 
the Issuer; 

(b) if the exact number or principal amount of voting or equity securities 
of the Issuer that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer is not 
determinable, the Issuer must disclose the maximum number or 
principal amount of each class and series of voting or equity 
securities that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer and, if that 
maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, the 
Issuer must describe the exchange or conversion features and the 
manner in which the number or principal amount of voting or equity 
securities will be determined; and 

(c) the disclosure under subsections (a) and (b) must be prepared as 
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of the latest practicable date.  

 
Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Note 12, a copy of which is attached. 

6.19 Provide Breakdown: 

(a) if the Issuer has not had significant revenue from operations in 
either of its last two financial years, disclose a breakdown of 
material components of: 

(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 

(ii) expensed research and development costs, 

(iii) deferred development costs, 

(iv) general and administrative expenses, and 

(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or 
expensed, not referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 

(b) present the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration and 
development costs required by subsection (a) on a property-by-
property basis, if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining 
exploration and development; and 

(c) provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods: 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the 
comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim 
financial statements included, if any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if the information required under that 
subsection has been disclosed in the financial statements. 
 
Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Note 7, 17 and 18, a copy of which is 
attached. 

 
6.20 Negative cash-flow - If the Issuer had negative operating cash flow in its 

most recently completed financial year for which financial statements have 
been included, disclose: 

 
the period of time the proceeds raised are expected to fund operations; 
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the estimated total operating costs necessary for the Issuer to achieve its 
stated business objectives during that period of time; and 

 
the estimated amount of other material capital expenditures during that 

period of time. 
 
Please refer to the Company’s Management Discussion & Analysis for the 
year ended December 31, 2012, Section E, a copy of which is attached. 

 
6.21 Additional disclosure for Issuers with significant equity investees: 
 

if the Issuer has a significant equity investee 

(i) summarized information as to the assets, liabilities and 
results of operations of the equity investee, and 

(ii) the Issuer’s proportionate interest in the equity investee and 
any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee 
that might significantly affect the Issuer’s share of earnings; 
and 

provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the 
comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim 
financial statements included in the Listing Statement, if 
any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if: 

(i) the information required under that subsection has been 
disclosed in the financial statements included, or 

(ii) the Issuer includes separate financial statements of the 
equity investee for the periods referred to in subsection (b). 

Not applicable. 
 
7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation and trade reporting system(s) on which 

the Issuer's securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted. 
 

Canadian National Stock Exchange (CNSX) 
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8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, the 

share and loan capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the date of 
the comparative financial statements for the Issuer's most recently completed 
financial year contained in the Listing Statement. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before the 

date of the Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase securities 
of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by: 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a group 

and all directors and past directors of the Issuer who are not also 
executive officers as a group, indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the 
information applies, without naming them; 

 
(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the 

Issuer as a group and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries 
who are not also executive officers of the subsidiary as a group, in each 
case, without naming them and excluding individuals referred to in 
paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and 
the aggregate number of directors to whom the information applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, without 

naming them; 
 

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer as a 
group, without naming them;  

 
(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 

 
(f) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each 

person or company. 
 
 
Instruction: 
(1) Describe the options, stating the material provisions of each class or type of option, 

including: 
(a) the designation and number of the securities under option; 
(b) the purchase price of the securities under option or the formula by which the purchase 

price will be determined, and the expiration dates of the options; 
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(c) if reasonably ascertainable, the market value of the securities under option on the date 
of grant; 

(d) if reasonably ascertainable, the market value of the securities under option on the 
specified date; and 

(e) with respect to options referred to in paragraph (f) of Item 9.1, the particulars of the 
grant including the  consideration for the grant. 

(2) For the purposes of item (f) of section 9.1, provide the information required for all options 
except warrants and special warrants. 
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 (a) (b) (b)  (c) (d) 

 

Number 
of 

persons 
as a 

group 

Number of 
securities 

under 
option 

Purchase 
price of 

securities 
under 
option Expiration date Date of grant 

Market value 
of securities 
under option 
on the date of 

grant 

Market 
value of 

securities 
under 

option on 
the 

specified 
date (April 
24, 2013) 

Executive officers 
5 1,175,000 0.15 Dec 6, 2015 Dec 7, 2010 129,250 135,125 

 

5 700,000 0.20 July 8, 2017 July 9, 2012 101,500 80,500 

 

2 150,000 0.20 March 17, 
2018 

March 18, 
2013 21,000 17,250 

Directors who are 
not also executive 
officers 

3 450,000 0.15 Dec 6, 2015 Dec 7, 2010 49,500 51,750 

 

4 350,000 0.20 July 8, 2017 July 9, 2012 50,750 40,250 

 

2 175,000 0.20 March 17, 
2018 

March 18, 
2013 24,500 20,125 

Employees 
1 150,000 0.15 Dec 6, 2015 Dec 7, 2010 16,500 17,250 

Employees 
1 50,000 0.20 Mar 10, 2016 Mar 11, 2011 7,500 5,750 

 

2 135,000 0.20 July 8, 2017 July 9, 2012 19,575 15,525 

 

2 100,000 0.20 March 17, 
2018 

March 18, 
2013 14,000 11,500 

Consultants 
2 175,000 0.15 Dec 6, 2015 Dec 7, 2010 19,250 20,125 

 

4 215,000 0.20 July 8, 2017 July 9, 2012 31,175 24,725 

 

3 325,000 0.20 March 17, 
2018 

March 18, 
2013 45,500 37,375 

Other persons or 
companies 

0     0 0 

 

  4,150,000    530,000 477,250 
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10. Description of the Securities 
 
10.1 General - State the description or the designation of each class of equity 

securities and describe all material attributes and characteristics, including: 
 

a) dividend rights; 

b) voting rights; 

c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 

d) pre-emptive rights; 

e) conversion or exchange rights; 

f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and 

any other material restrictions; and 

i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital. 

Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, Note 12, a copy of which is attached. 

 
10.2 Debt securities - If debt securities are being listed, describe all material attributes 

and characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, for the debt, 
including: 

 
(a) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any; 

 
(b) conversion or exchange rights; 

 
(c) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

 
(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

 
(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt securities, briefly 

identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge; 
 

(f) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities, the 
incurring of additional indebtedness and other material negative 
covenants, including restrictions against payment of dividends and 
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restrictions against giving security on the assets of the Issuer or its 
subsidiaries, and provisions as to the release or substitution of assets 
securing the debt securities; 

 
(g) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to the Issuer and 

 
(h) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates or 

among its affiliates that could affect the security for the indebtedness. 
 

Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, Note 11, a copy of which is attached. 

 
10.4 Other securities - If securities other than equity securities or debt securities are 

being listed, describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of those 
securities. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
10.5 Modification of terms: 
 

(a) describe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any 
rights attached to the securities being listed; and 

 
(b) if the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in 

accordance with the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions 
of the governing statute relating to the securities, explain briefly. 

 
Not applicable. 

10.6 Other attributes: 

 (a) if the rights attaching to the securities being listed are materially limited 
or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other 
class of securities ranks ahead of or equally with the securities being 
listed, include information about the other securities that will enable 
investors to understand the rights attaching to the securities being listed; 
and 

 (b) if securities of the class being listed may be partially redeemed or 
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securities to be redeemed 
or repurchased. 

 
Please refer to the Company’s annual audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2012, Note 11, a copy of which is attached. 

 
10.7 Prior Sales - State the prices at which securities of the same class as the 

securities to be listed have been sold within the 12 months before the date of 
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the Listing Statement, or are to be sold, by the Issuer or any Related Person 
and the number of securities of the class sold or to be sold at each price. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 
 

a) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed on 
a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the 
price ranges and volume traded on the Canadian stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; 

 
b) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not listed 

on a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide 
the price ranges and volume traded on the foreign stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; and 

 
c) information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if 

applicable, part month, of the current quarter and the immediately 
preceding quarter and on a quarterly basis for the next preceding seven 
quarters. 

 
The Company began trading on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (CNSX) 
on December 2, 1010, upon completion of a Plan of Arrangement. The graph 
below covers the period from January to December 31, 2012, and is reproduced 
from Stockwatch.com. 
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11. Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing 

Statement, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities 
of each class of securities of the Issuer held, to the knowledge of the Issuer, in 
escrow (which, for the purposes of this Form includes any securities subject to 
a pooling agreement) and the percentage that number represents of the 
outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, disclose the name of 
the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions governing the release of 
the securities from escrow. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
12. Principal Shareholders  
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the 

Issuer as of a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the  
Listing Statement: 

 
(a) Name; 
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(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be listed; 
 

(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are owned 
both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only; 
and 

 
(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer to 

be owned. 

(2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has 
proposed an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or 
arrangement, indicate, to the extent known, the holding of each person of 
company described in paragraph (1) that will exist after giving effect to the 
transaction. 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class of 

voting securities of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to any voting 
trust or other similar agreement, disclose, to the extent known, the 
designation of the securities, the number or amount of the securities held 
or to be held subject to the agreement and the duration of the agreement.  
State the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly 
their voting rights and other powers under the agreement. 

 
(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an associate 

or affiliate of another person or company named as a principal 
shareholder, disclose, to the extent known, the material facts of the 
relationship, including any basis for influence over the Issuer held by the 
person or company other than the holding of voting securities of the 
Issuer. 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required 

calculation(s) on a fully-diluted basis. (at December 31) Need warrants 
from Lou, then replace chart with updated figures. 

 

Name of shareholder and 
municipality of residence 

Number of 
common shares 

owned, 
controlled or 

directed 

Warrants 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully 
diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully 

diluted) 

Option Three Advisory Services 
Limited 
London, England 

9,666,666 9,666,666 19,333,332 24.42% 
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13 Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive 

officer of the Issuer and indicate their respective positions and offices held with 
the Issuer and their respective principal occupations within the five preceding 
years. (at December 31) 

 

Name and 
municipality Position with Issuer 

Director/Officer 
since 

Common 
shares over 
which control 
is exercised 

% of 
outstanding 
shares  

        48,755,027 

Murray Ross Orr 
Toronto, Ontario  Director; President & CEO Oct 5, 2010 988,500 2.03% 

John Cater Gingerich 
Mississauga, Ontario 

Director & Chairman of the 
Board Dec 1, 2010 129,900 0.27% 

William Walter 
Cimowsky 
Toronto, Ontario Director Dec 1, 2010 20,000 0.04% 

Jay Lawrence Naster 
Toronto, Ontario Director Dec 1, 2010 1,200 0.00% 
Donald Alexander 
Whalen 
Unionville, Ontario Director Dec 1, 2010 425,000 0.87% 

Louis Robert Nagy 
Newmarket, Ontario 

Chief Financial Officer & 
Corporate Secretary Oct 5, 2010 280,900 0.58% 

David John Salari 
Burlington, Ontario Chief Operating Officer Aug 16, 2011 10,000 0.02% 

Paul Charles Miller 
Ocean Reef, Australia 

 Vice President, 
Technology & Engineering Dec 6, 2010 76,683 0.16% 

Junxiang Guo* 
Mississauga, Ontario Vice President, Metallurgy Dec 6, 2010 0 0.00% 

MaryAnn Mihychuk 
Winnipeg, Manitoba 

Vice President, Operations, 
BacTech Manitoba Corp. Mar 14, 2012 20,720 0.04% 

Total shares 1,952,903 4.01% 

* Dr. Guo passed away on January 12, 2013 
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M. Ross Orr, Director, President & CEO 
 
Mr. Orr is currently the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, a 
position he has held since completion of the Plan of Arrangement on December 2, 
2010.  He is a full-time, salaried employee of the Company. Prior to that, he served 
as President and Chief Executive Officer of REBgold Corporation (previously, 
BacTech Mining Corporation), a position he assumed in 2004.  Following 
completion of the Plan of Arrangement, he became a Director of BacTech 
Environmental Corporation and remains on the board of REBgold Corporation. Mr. 
Orr is a graduate of the University of Calgary and currently sits on the board of 
Caldera Resources Ltd.  
 
John C. Gingerich, Director, Chairman of the Board 
 
Mr. Gingerich is a professional geophysicist with over 25 years of experience in 
exploration and mining industry technologies. He is President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Advanced Explorations Inc. (AEI), a position he has held since 2004.  
AEI is a resource development company focused on developing its Roche Bay 
and Tuktu Iron Ore projects located in Nunavut. Prior to that, Mr. Gingerich was 
President of Geotechnical Business Solutions Inc., and before that, Senior 
Manager of Noranda Exploration. Appointed to the Board of REBgold Corporation 
(previously, BacTech Mining Corporation) on March 24, 2006, Mr. Gingerich 
resigned that position following completion of the Plan of Arrangement on 
December 2, 2010 and became a Director of BacTech Environmental Corporation 
and Chairman of the Board. 
 
William W. Cimowsky, Director 
 
Mr. Cimowsky is a founding partner and director of Ocean Partners Holdings 
Limited, a privately held company active in the global physical trading and 
marketing of copper, zinc, lead and precious metal concentrates.  Prior to that, 
from 1994 until 2004, he was a trader with Pechiney World Trade USA, Inc. Mr. 
Cimowsky has over 30 years of experience in concentrate marketing, and  held 
previous positions with Noranda Inc. and Pechiney/Alcan, before establishing 
Ocean Partners through a management buyout in 2004.  Mr. Cimowsky holds 
Bachelor of Science (Geology) degree and an MBA degree from the University of 
Toronto. Appointed to the Board of REBgold Corporation (previously, BacTech 
Mining Corporation) on July 10, 2008, Mr. Cimowsky resigned that position 
following completion of the Plan of Arrangement on December 2, 2010 and 
became a Director of BacTech Environmental Corporation. 
 
Jay L. Naster, Director 
 
Mr. Naster is a lawyer practicing in the areas of criminal, regulatory and 
disciplinary law with the Toronto law firm, Rosen Naster LLP, which he joined in 
2005.  For several years prior to that, he served as Special Counsel to the Ontario 
Securities Commission, where he conducted complex regulatory and quasi-
criminal prosecutions, with a specific emphasis on the conduct of senior officers, 
directors and advisors of public companies and investment dealers. He has 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 42 

 
  

appeared before all courts in Ontario and the Supreme Court of Canada. Mr. 
Naster was called to the bar for the province of Ontario in 1986. Appointed to the 
Board of REBgold Corporation (previously, BacTech Mining Corporation) on 
August 18, 2009, Mr. Naster resigned that position following completion of the 
Plan of Arrangement on December 2, 2010 and became a Director of BacTech 
Environmental Corporation. 
 
Donald A. Whalen, Director 
 
Mr. Whalen has been an independent businessman since December 2008. He was 
Senior Vice President of High River Gold Mines Limited (“High River”) from 
September 2008 to December 2008, and Executive Chairman of High River from 
September 1993 to September 2008. High River owned and operated, in a joint 
venture with TVX Gold Inc. (operator), the New Britannia Mine, which produced 
approximately 100,000 ounces of gold annually for eight years beginning in the 
late 1990s.  High River currently produces in excess of 350,000 ounces of gold 
annually, with mines in Russia and West Africa, and is constructing a new mine in 
West Africa which is expected to begin producing an additional 150,000 ounces 
per year starting in late 2013. Prior to being involved with High River, Mr. Whalen 
spent 29 years with IBM Canada Ltd.  He is the past Chairman of the Canada 
Eurasia Russia Business Association (1998-2008), and he was Co-Chair of the 
Canada Russia Business Council (2004-2006). He currently sits on the boards of 
Pancontinental Uranium Corp., Roscan Minerals Corporation, SouthTech Capital 
Corporation, and VMS Ventures Inc. 
 
Louis R. Nagy, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary 
 
Mr. Nagy is currently the Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary of 
BacTech Environmental Corporation, a position he has held since completion of 
the Plan of Arrangement on December 2, 2010. Since 2004, he has been the 
President of Your CFO Ltd., through which company he provides part-time Chief 
Financial Officer services to small junior mining companies and small service 
organizations that are required to publicly issue quarterly and annual financial 
statements. He has been CFO to REBgold Corporation (previously, BacTech 
Mining Corporation) and Advanced Explorations Inc. from June 2006 to the 
present. Prior to that, he provided sales tax recovery consulting services to a 
variety of large national companies across a wide spectrum of industries from 
2002 to 2008. Mr. Nagy is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years of 
experience, including public practice engagements, personal and corporate tax 
assignments. Industry experience includes various finance and accounting roles, 
including CFO, within small to medium sized private and public companies.  
  
David J. Salari, Chief Operating Officer 
 
Mr. Salari is currently the Chief Operating Officer of the Company, a position he 
has held since August 16, 2011. He is a metallurgical engineer with over 30 years' 
experience in the mining and metallurgical industry. Since 2004, he has been the 
President and CEO of DENM Ltd., an engineering company that specializes in 
project management, construction management, and commissioning of small to 
medium scale mining projects. Mr. Salari is a member of the Professional 
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Engineers Association of Ontario and Nova Scotia and meets the requirements as 
a Qualified Person (“QP”) as set out in National Instrument 43-101, based on his 
education, experience, independence, and affiliation with a professional 
association.  
 
Paul C. Miller, Vice President, Technology & Engineering 
 
Dr. Miller is currently the Vice President of Technology & Engineering of the 
Company, a position he has held since completion of the Plan of Arrangement on 
December 2, 2010. He is responsible for all technical aspects of projects, from 
initial test work and management of studies through to project design and 
execution. Dr. Miller has worked for REBgold Corporation (previously, BacTech 
Mining Corporation), since joining the company in Australia in 1996 as technical 
manager, and has been the Vice President, Technology & Engineering of that 
company since 2003. Dr. Miller is Managing Director of his own consulting 
company, Sulphide Resource Processing Pty Ltd., which specializes in the 
extractive metallurgy of gold and base metals from complex ore types which are 
generally classified as refractory sulphides. 
 
Dr. Miller has over 25 years' industrial experience in bioleaching and commercial 
applications. He commenced his career working for Mintek in South Africa in 
1981, and formed the original group evaluating bioleaching as a potential 
treatment option. In 1986, he joined Davy McKee in the U.K. as a group leader 
responsible for development of process technology in support of worldwide 
contracting activities, with an emphasis on refractory gold projects, determining 
the feasibility of bioleaching against competing technologies. 
 
Junxiang Guo, Vice President, Metallurgy* 
 
Dr. Guo is currently the Vice President of Metallurgy of the Company, a position 
he has held since completion of the Plan of Arrangement on December 2, 2010. In 
March 2010, Dr. Guo joined REBgold Corporation (previously, BacTech Mining 
Corporation) as Vice President of Metallurgy, a position he continues to hold. 
From July 2007 to October 2009, he was Technical Director, Zijin Mining Group, 
Longyan City, China. From December 2005 to May 2007, he was Operations 
Manager of the Shandong MIC Biogold Ltd. plant in Laizhou, China.  A metallurgist 
by training, Dr. Guo has 15 years of experience in applied research, operations 
and project management. His operational experience also includes Red Lake Mine 
in Canada and Zeravshan Gold Company in Tajikistan.  
 

 *Dr. Guo passed away January 12, 2013 
 
MaryAnn Mihychuk, Vice President of Operations, BacTech Manitoba Corporation 
 
Ms Mihychuk is a professional geoscientist with over 33 years of experience in the 
mining industry. Since 2008, she has been President of her own consulting firm, 
Corporate Relations Services, advising public and private companies on issues 
related to governance, social responsibility and regulatory matters. Prior to that, 
she was Director of Corporate Relations for HudBay Minerals.  Prior to that, she 
was Director of Regulatory Affairs at the Prospectors and Developers Association 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 44 

 
  

of Canada (PDAC), Canada’s largest mineral industry trade association, with 
responsibilities for land and regulations, finance and taxation, securities and 
federal government advocacy. She also held the position of Minister of Mines in 
the Manitoba government from 1999 to 2004, and served as a member of the 
Manitoba Legislature for nine years. She is the Founder and Chair of Women in 
Mining Canada, and also sits on the board of the PDAC. She currently serves as 
President of Kismet Minerals Corp. Ms Mihychuk has been a director of BacTech 
Environmental Corporation since December 6, 2010. On March 14, 2012, Ms 
Mihychuk resigned from the Board to assume the position of Vice President of 
Operations of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, BacTech Manitoba 
Corporation. 

 
13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director 

and when his or her term of office will expire. 
 
 See 13.1 
 
 Directors of the Company hold office until the next annual meeting of the 

shareholders held following their election, unless they resign. 
 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities 

of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, 
or over which control or direction is exercised by all directors and executive 
officers of the Issuer as a group. 

 
 See 13.1 
 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of each 

committee. 
 
Audit Committee: John Gingerich (Chair), Jay Naster, Ross Orr 
 
Compensation and Corporate Governance Committee: Walter Cimowsky (Chair), 
Donald Whalen 
 

13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as an 
officer of a person or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact and state 
the principal business of the person or company. 
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Name and position 
with the issuer 
 

Principal occupation, 
other than with the 
issuer 

Principal 
business 

Has the 
individual 
signed an NDA 
or non compete 
agreement? 

M. Ross Orr 
Director 
President & CEO 

  NDA 

John C. Gingerich 
Director  
Chairman 

President & CEO 
Advanced Explorations 
Inc. 

See 13.1 No 

W. Walter Cimowsky 
Director 

Partner 
Ocean Partners Holdings 
Limited 

See 13.1 No 

Jay L. Naster 
Director 

Lawyer 
Rosen Naster LLP See 13.1 No 

Donald A. Whalen 
Director Self employed consultant See 13.1 No 

Louis Nagy 
Chief Financial Officer & 
Corporate Secretary 
 

President  
Your CFO Ltd. See 13.1  NDA 

David Salari 
Chief Operating Officer 
 

President 
D.E.N.M. Ltd. See 13.1 NDA 

Paul Miller 
Vice President, 
Technology & 
Engineering 
 

Managing Director 
Sulphide Resource 
Processing Pty Ltd 

See 13.1 No 

Junxiang Guo* 
Vice President, 
Metallurgy 
 

 See 13.1 No 

MaryAnn Mihychuk 
Vice President, 
Operations, BacTech 
Manitoba Corp. 

President 
Corporate Relations 
Services 

See 13.1 NDA 

*Dr. Guo passed away on January 12, 2013 

 
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 46 

 
  

13.6 Disclose if a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, 
is, or within 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement has been, a 
director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that 
capacity: 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied 

the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, 
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe 
the basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in 
effect; 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 

ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the 
subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for 
a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the 
basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect; 

 
(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

 
(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets, state the fact. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they 

were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances 
that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a director or officer of the Issuer, 
or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially 
the control of the Issuer, has: 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 

Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; or 

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 

regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 
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Not applicable. 

 
13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
13.9 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities 

of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding 
company of any such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of the 
Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or 
officer, state the fact. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
13.10 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between 

the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of the Issuer or 
a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
13.11 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information for 

each member of management: 
 

(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the 
Issuer and relevant educational background; 

 
See 13.1 

 
(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what 

proportion of the individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer; 
 

See. 13.1. All management personnel, with the exception of Ross Orr, 
President and CEO, perform their duties on a part-time basis as 
independent contractors.  Mr. Orr is a full-time, salaried employee of the 
Company. 

 
(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of 

the Issuer; 
 

See 13.1. All management personnel, with the exception of Ross Orr, 
President and CEO, perform their duties on a part-time basis as 
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independent contractors.  Mr. Orr is a full-time, salaried employee of the 
Company. 

 
(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the five 

years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with respect to 
each organization as of the time such occupation or employment was 
carried on: 

 
(i) its name and principal business, 

 
(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer, 

 
(iii) positions held by the individual, and 

 
(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 
 
See 13.1 

 
(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 
 

See 13.1 
 

(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or non-
disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 

 
See 13.5 

 
Instruction: 
(1) For purposes of this Item "management" means all directors, officers, employees and 

contractors whose expertise is critical to the Issuer, its subsidiaries and proposed 
subsidiaries in providing the Issuer with a reasonable opportunity to achieve its stated 
business objectives. 

(2) The description of the principal occupation of a member of management must be 
specific.  The terms "businessman" or "entrepreneur" are not sufficiently specific. 

 
14. Capitalization 
  

The shareholder base was created though a Plan of Arrangement from REBgold’s 
shareholder base. At the time of the Plan of Arrangement on December 2, 2010, 
REBgold had been a publicly-listed company on the TSX Venture Exchange since 
1997.  During the period from 1997 to December 2, 2010, the Company was widely 
held, having shareholders in Australia, Europe, the US and Canada.  
 
Effective December 2, 2010, REBgold completed a divisive reorganization by way 
of a Plan of Arrangement (the "Arrangement") whereby a newly formed subsidiary, 
BacTech Environmental Corporation, was granted rights and interests in 
REBgold's existing and proposed tailings remediation projects and an exclusive, 
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perpetual, royalty-free licence to use REBgold’s proprietary bioleaching 
technology for reclamation of historic mine tailings and waste rock. Under the 
terms of the Arrangement, REBgold's shareholders received, in exchange for each 
existing common share of REBgold, one new common share of REBgold (formerly 
BacTech Mining Corporation) and one-fifth of a common share of BacTech 
Environmental Corporation. 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  
 
Issued Capital (at December 31) 
 

 

Number of 
securities 
(non-
diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully 
diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully diluted) 

Public float 
    

  Total outstanding (A) 48,755,027 79,159,861 100.0% 100.0% 

  Held by related persons (B) 1,952,903 4,837,903 4.01% 6.11% 

  Total public float (A-B) 46,802,124 74,321,958 95.99% 93.89% 

     

     
Freely-tradeable Float 46,802,124 74,321,958 95.99% 93.89% 

  Number of restricted shares (C) Nil NIL Nil Nil 

  Total tradeable float (A-C) 46,802,124 74,321,958 95.99% 93.89% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons 
other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List 
registered holders only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of 
shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary 
provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; 
names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If 
an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, 
give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
Unable to confirm     
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital  chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
     

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into 

any class of listed securities (at December 31, 2012). 
 
Description of Security 
(include conversion /  
exercise terms, including 
conversion / exercise price)1 

Number of convertible / 
exchangeable securities 
outstanding 

Number of listed securities 
issuable upon conversion / 
exercise 

Stock options 3,500,000 3,500,000 

Warrants 13,266,666 13,266,666 

Convertible debenture 3,745,000 3,745,000 

1. All as more fully described in the attached audited annual financial statements and 
Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
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14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not 

included in section 14.2.  
 

Pursuant to the Arrangement as described in note 5, the Company has certain 
obligations pursuant to the REBgold warrants in existence at the time of the 
Arrangement, which upon being exercised, shall be satisfied by the issuance of 
one common share from REBgold and one-fifth of  one common share of the 
Company in accordance with the terms of the Arrangement.  
Upon the exercise of any of these REBgold warrants following the Arrangement, 
REBgold shall pay to the Company 17% of the exercise proceeds as 
consideration for the issuance of the Company's common shares.  REBgold 
shall retain the balance of the aggregate exercise price as consideration for the 
issuance of its common shares from the exercise of the warrant. 
In May 2012, REBgold consolidated its shares on a basis of 1 share for every 10 
outstanding; consequently, the exercise of an eligible post-consolidation 
REBgold warrant will require the issuance of 2 shares of the Company.  As of 
December 31, 2012, REBgold had 4,777,833 common share purchase warrants 
outstanding which are subject to the Arrangement.  The Company’s obligation, if 
these warrants were exercised prior to expiry, would be to issue 9,555,667 
common shares in return for its portion of the aggregate exercise proceeds of 
$848,835. 

 
15. Executive Compensation 
 
15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 51-102F6 or any 

successor instrument and describe any intention to make any material changes 
to that compensation. 

 
 Executive Compensation will be fully described in the Management information 

Circular to be filed within the next 60 days. 
 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

 
 (1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a 

date within thirty days before the date of the information circular entered into in 
connection with: 

 
(a) a purchase of securities; and 

 
(b) all other indebtedness. 

 
(2) Report separately the indebtedness to: 
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(a) the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and 
 
(b) another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, 

support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement 
or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
(column (c)), 

of all officers, directors, employees and former officers, directors and employees 
of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries. 

(3) “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide 
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement 
to provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any 
indebtedness of the borrower. 

 
16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities 

Purchase and (2) Other Programs 
 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1) SECURITIES 
PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Involvement 
of Issuer or 
Subsidiary 

Largest 
Amount 
Outstanding 
During [Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 
($) 

Amount 
Outstanding 
as at [the 
date of the 
Form] 
($) 

Financially 
Assisted 
Securities 
Purchases 
During [Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 
(#) 

Security 
for 
Indebtedness 

Amount 
Forgiven 
During 
[Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 

($) 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) 
Securities Purchase Programs 
       
       

Other Programs 
       
       
 

(1) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the 
most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the 
Issuer, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the Issuer, and each 
associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee, 
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(a) who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently 
completed financial year of the Issuer has been, indebted to the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, or 

(b) whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the 
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the 
subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other 
similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of 
its subsidiaries, 

 
and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and 
all other programs. 
 

(2 )  Note the following: 
 
Column (a) – disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the 
borrower was, during the year, but no longer is a director or executive officer, 
state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for election as a director, 
state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate, describe briefly the 
relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the year, was a 
director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for election as a 
director, name that individual and provide the information required by this 
subparagraph for that individual. 

Column (b) – disclose whether the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer is the 
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or 
similar arrangement or understanding. 

Column (c) – disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness 
outstanding at any time during the last completed financial year. 

Column (d) – disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as 
at a date within thirty days before the date of the information circular. 

Column (e) – disclose separately for each class or series of securities, the 
sum of the number of securities purchased during the last completed financial 
year with the financial assistance (security purchase programs only). 

Column (f) – disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to 
the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase 
programs only). 

Column (g) – disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at 
any time during the last completed financial year. 

(3 )  Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of: 
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(a) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of 
each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding, including: 

(i) the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was incurred, 

(ii) the rate of interest, 

(iii) the term to maturity, 

(iv) any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse, and 

(v) any security for the indebtedness; 

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently 
completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if 
applicable, the guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar 
arrangement or understanding. Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in 
column (g) of the above table should be explained; and 

 
(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or 

held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of 
securities is not publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, 
including the provisions for exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, 
retraction and dividends. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
17.  Risk Factors  

 

17.1 Disclose risk factors relating to the Issuer and its business, such as cash flow 
and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks 
inherent in the business carried on by the Issuer, environmental and health 
risks, reliance on key personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political 
conditions and financial history and any other matter that would be likely to 
influence an investor’s decision to purchase securities of the Issuer. 

17.2  If there is a risk that security holders of the Issuer may become liable to make 
an additional contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose that risk. 

17.3 Describe any risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor 
would consider relevant to an investment in the securities being listed and that 
are not otherwise described under section 17.1 or 17.2. 

Instruction: Disclose risks in the order of seriousness from the most serious to the least 
serious. A risk factor must not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or conditions. 
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The Company’s strategy emphasizes developing projects in order to leverage its 
intellectual property and drive the creation of shareholder value.  This strategy 
has required, and continues to require, significant financings, and is subject to 
risks associated with mineral prices, mineral resources and operations.  Due to 
the nature of the Company’s business, the present stage of development of its 
projects, and the constraints placed upon the Company’s ability to move forward 
by its current liquidity situation, readers should carefully review and consider the 
financial, environmental and operational risk factors affecting the Company. 

 
Need for Additional Financing 

 
The Company currently has no source of operating cash flow, and there is no 
assurance that additional funding will be available to the Company as and when 
needed for further exploration and development of its projects, or to fulfill its 
obligations to its existing creditors. Volatile markets may make it difficult or 
impossible for the Company to obtain adequate debt or equity financing in the 
future, or on terms acceptable to the Company. The failure to obtain additional 
financing could force the Company to liquidate its assets to satisfy creditor 
claims. 

 
Dependence on Management 

 
The Company’s business and operations are dependent on recruiting and 
retaining the services of a small number of key members of management and 
qualified personnel.  The success of the operations and activities of the Company 
are dependent, to a significant extent, on the efforts and abilities of the 
management of the Company.  Investors must be willing to rely, to a significant 
extent, on the discretion and judgment of the management of the Company.  
Furthermore, while the Company believes that it will be successful in attracting 
qualified personnel and retaining its current management team, there can be no 
assurance of such success.  The Company does not maintain key employee 
insurance on any of its employees. 

 
Competition 

 
The Company competes with other engineering companies for the acquisition of 
mineral rich mine tailings and mine waste that can be developed economically.  
The Company competes with other engineering companies that have greater 
financial and technical resources and experience.  Such competition may result in 
the Company being unable to acquire desired properties, to recruit or retain 
qualified employees, or to acquire the capital necessary to fund its operations and 
develop its properties. The inability of the Company to compete with other 
engineering companies for these resources would have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s results of operations and business. 

 
Currently, the Company’s bioleaching technology does not operate in an overly 
competitive marketplace; however the Company anticipates that it may face 
increased competition in the future, as advanced technologies become available. 
While management believes that the Company’s technology is more advanced, 
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commercially proven and better situated than its competitors, there can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to effectively compete with companies 
who have or may develop similar technologies and may possess greater financial 
resources and technical facilities. Competitive pressures, or the inability of the 
Company to successfully license its technology on terms that are acceptable, may 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and 
financial condition.   

 
Conflicts of Interest 

 
Certain of the Company’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers 
of other reporting companies, companies providing services to the Company, or 
companies in which they may have significant shareholdings.  To the extent that 
such other companies may participate in ventures in which the Company may 
participate, the directors of the Company may have a conflict of interest in 
negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. In 
the event that such a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Company's 
directors, a director who has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against 
the approval of such participation or such terms. 

 
From time to time, several companies may participate in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of natural resource properties, thereby allowing for 
the participation in larger programs, permitting involvement in a greater number 
of programs and reducing financial exposure in respect of any one program. It 
may also occur that a particular company will assign all or a portion of its interest 
in a particular program to another of these companies due to the financial position 
of the company making the assignment. 

 
In accordance with the laws of Canada, the directors of the Company are required 
to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. In 
determining whether or not the Company will participate in a particular program 
and the interest therein to be acquired by it, the directors will primarily consider 
the degree of risk to which the Company may be exposed and its financial 
position at the time. 

18. Promoters  
 
18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years immediately 

preceding the date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the Issuer or of a 
subsidiary of the Issuer, state: 

 
(a) the person or company's name; 

 
(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity 

securities of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, 
directly or indirectly, or over which control is exercised; 
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(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property, 
contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the 
promoter directly or indirectly from the Issuer or from a subsidiary of the 
Issuer, and the nature and amount of any assets, services or other 
consideration therefor received or to be received by the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

 
(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing 

Statement or thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by a subsidiary 
of the Issuer from a promoter: 

 
(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by 

which the consideration has been or will be determined, 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in 
subparagraph (i) and the person or company's relationship with the 
Issuer, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate of the Issuer or of the 
promoter, and 

 
(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of 

the asset to the promoter. 

18.2 (1) If a promoter referred to in section 18.1 is, as at the date hereof, or was 
within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief executive officer, 
or chief financial officer of any person or company that: 

a) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter 
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or 
chief financial officer; or 

b) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased 
to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and 
which resulted from an event that occurred while the promoter was 
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer, 

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and whether 
the order is still in effect. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of section 18.2 (1), “order” means: 

 
(a) a cease trade order; 
 
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to 
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any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

 (3)  If a promoter referred to in section 18.2 (1): 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the 
date hereof, a director or executive officer of any person or company 
that, while the promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year 
of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the 
promoter, state the fact. 

 (4)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which 
they were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the 
circumstances that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a promoter 
referred to in section 18.2(1) has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory 
authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable 
investor in making an investment decision. 

 (5)  Despite section 18.2(4), no disclosure is required of a settlement 
agreement entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure 
would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making 
an investment decision. 

 Not applicable. 
 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is 
the subject matter and any such proceedings known to the Issuer to be 
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contemplated, including the name of the court or agency, the date instituted, 
the principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the claim, the amount 
claimed, if any, if the proceedings are being contested, and the present status 
of the proceedings. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
19.2 Regulatory actions - Describe any: 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to 
provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority within the three years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

against the Issuer necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the securities being listed; and 

 
(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to 

provincial and territorial securities legislation or with a securities 
regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date 
hereof. 

 
Not applicable. 

 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or 

indirect, of any of the following persons or companies in any transaction within 
the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, or in any proposed 
transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer; 
 
(b) a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or 

who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class 
or series of your outstanding voting securities; and 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in 

paragraphs (a) or (b). 
 
Not applicable. 
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21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
 
 MSCM LLP 
 701 Evans Avenue, 8th floor 
 Toronto, Ontario M9C 1A3 
 
21.2 For each class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar, 

trustee, or other agent appointed by the Issuer to maintain the securities 
register and the register of transfers for such securities and indicate the location 
(by municipality) of each of the offices of the Issuer or transfer agent, registrar, 
trustee or other agent where the securities register and register of transfers are 
maintained or transfers of securities are recorded.   

 
 Computershare Investor Services Inc. 
 100 University Avenue, 9th floor 
 Toronto, Ontario M5J 2Y1 
 
22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered into in 

the ordinary course of business that was entered into within the two years 
before the date of Listing Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
Manitoba Department of Innovation Energy and Mines for the remediation of the 
arsenopyrite stockpile in Snow Lake, Manitoba. 
  
The contract details, among other things, time horizons with respect to BacTech’s 
goal of building and operating a bioleach plant in Snow Lake. The bioleach plant 
is to be built to reprocess the arsenopyrite stockpile that has been sitting onsite at 
the Snow Lake Mine (formerly known as the Nor-Acme Mine) since the mid-1950s. 
BacTech will build and operate the plant, at its sole expense, in exchange for the 
gold and silver recovered from the stockpile. The Province will receive a 2% net 
smelter royalty on production once the capital costs for the plant have been 
recovered. BacTech has the right to purchase one half of the 2% royalty for 
$500,000 at any time. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) The term "material contract" for this purpose means a contract that can reasonably be 

regarded as material to a proposed investor in the securities being listed and may in 
some circumstances include contracts with a person or company providing the Issuer 
with promotional or investor relations services. 

(2) Set out a complete list of all material contracts, indicating those that are disclosed 
elsewhere in Listing Statement and provide particulars about those material contracts 
for which particulars are not given elsewhere in the Listing Statement. 

(3) Particulars of contracts should include the dates of, parties to, consideration provided 
for in, and general nature of, the contracts. 
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22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited 

partnership agreement. 
 
23 Interest of Experts 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a 

Related Person of the Issuer received or to be received by a person or 
company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by 
the person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part 
of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described 
or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company 

referred to in section 23.1 of any securities of the Issuer or any Related Person 
of the Issuer. 

 
23.3 For the purpose of section 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, a 

general statement to that effect shall be sufficient. 
 
23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company referred 

to in section 23.1 is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
director, officer or employee of the Issuer or of any associate or affiliate of the 
Issuer, disclose the fact or expectation. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities that are 

not disclosed under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the 
Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts 
relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

 
 Not applicable. 
 
25. Financial Statements  
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 
 

(a) copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports required 
to be prepared and filed under applicable securities legislation for the 
preceding three years as if the Issuer were subject to such law; and 

 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

July 6, 2010 
Page 64 

 
  

(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of the 
current fiscal year. 

 
The Company became operational following completion of a Plan of 
Arrangement on December 2, 2010. Audited financial statements for the 
period ended December 31, 2011 and the year ended December 31, 2012 
are attached. 

 
25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

(a) the information required in sections 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
 
(b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements as if the target were the Issuer; 

(c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving 
effect to the transaction for: 

 
(i) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer, and 

(ii) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  

Not applicable. 
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The certificate below must be signed by the CEO, CFO, and two directors of the Issuer.  
 

CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating 
to BacTech Environmental Corporation. It contains no untrue statement of a material 
fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is 
necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of 
the circumstances in which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto, Ontario 

this  24th  day of May, 2013. 

 

Signed: “M. Ross Orr”  Signed: “Louis R. Nagy” 

President & Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

M. Ross Orr  Louis R. Nagy 

Signed: “Jay Naster”   

Director, Jay Naster   

   

Signed: “Walter Cimowsky”   

Director, Walter Cimowsky   
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Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Shareholders of 
BacTech Environmental Corporation 
 
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BacTech Environmental Corporation, which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in equity (deficiency in assets), 
and cash flows for the years then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 



 An Independent Firm Associated With Moore Stephens  |  MSCM.CA 
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Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of BacTech Environmental Corporation as at December 31, 2012 and 2011 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which describes 
uncertainty regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. 

 Signed:  "MSCM LLP" 

 Chartered Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 
April 29, 2013 



 

Approved by the Board 
 

Signed:  "Jay Naster" Signed:  "M. Ross Orr" 

  

Director Director 
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BacTech Environmental Corporation 
 

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
December 31, 2012 
 

  2012   2011  
 

Assets 

Current assets 

Cash $ 409,583  $ 99,114  

Sales taxes receivable  56,324   30,105  

Prepaid expenses  16,955   15,283  
 

  482,862   144,502  

Deferred exploration costs (note 7)  842,144   341,259  

Equipment (note 8)  315   1,415  
 

 $ 1,325,321  $ 487,176  
 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 9 and 10) $ 366,518  $ 381,691  

Current portion of payable to REBgold Corporation (note 6)  73,103   202,720  
 

  439,621   584,411  

Payable to REBgold Corporation (notes 6 and 11(ii))  67,163   -  

Debentures payable (note 11(i))  435,284   -  
 

  942,068   584,411  
 

Equity (deficiency in assets) 

Share capital (note 12)  2,378,769   1,567,624  

Shares to be issued (note 12)  -   64,000  

Warrants reserve  (note 13)  799,259   72,591  

Contributed surplus reserve (note 14)  549,790   165,719  

Deficit  (3,344,565)   (1,967,169)  
 

  383,253   (97,235)  
 

 $ 1,325,321  $ 487,176  
 

Plan of arrangement (note 5) 

Going concern (note 1) 

Commitments (note 19) 

Subsequent event (note 23) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BacTech Environmental Corporation 
 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
for the years ended December 31, 2012 
 

  2012   2011  
 

Expenses 

Operating and administrative costs (note 17) $ 1,220,124  $ 1,133,763  

Finance charges (note 18)  157,272   31,566  

Property termination costs (note 5)  -   244,271  
 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ (1,377,396)  $ (1,409,600)  
 

Basic and diluted loss per common share (note 15) $ (0.03)  $ (0.04)  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BacTech Environmental Corporation 
 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficiency in Assets) 
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

                    Share Capital                   Reserves  
 

   Shares to Contributed     
  Amount be issued surplus Warrants Deficit Total 
 

Balance, December 31, 2010  $ 357,190  $ -  $ 25,971  $ 27,866  $ (557,569)  $ (146,542)  
 

Common Shares issued pursuant to 
private placement (note 12(i))   532,500   -   -   67,500   -   600,000  

Common Shares issued on exercise of 
REBgold warrants (note 12(ii))   373,687   -   -   -   -   373,687  

Common Shares issued on exercise of 
warrants (note 12(iii))   43,350   -   -   -   -   43,350  

Fair value of warrants exercised (note 12(iii))   5,279   -   -   (5,279)   -   -  

Expired warrants   -   -   22,587   (22,587)   -   -  

Common shares issued on exercise of 
options (note 12(iv))   30,000   -   -   -   -   30,000  

Fair value of options exercised (note 12(iv))   14,940   -   (14,940)   -   -   -  

Common shares issued as property 
termination payment (note 5)   244,271   -   -   -   -   244,271  

Share issue costs (note 12(i))   (33,593)   -   -   5,091   -   (28,502)  

Share based payments    -   -   132,101   -   -   132,101  

Shares to be issued (note 23)   -   64,000   -   -   -   64,000  

Net and comprehensive loss for the year   -   -   -   -   (1,409,600)   (1,409,600)  
 

Balance, December 31, 2011  $ 1,567,624  $ 64,000  $ 165,719  $ 72,591  $(1,967,169)  $ (97,235)  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BacTech Environmental Corporation 

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficiency in Assets) - continued 

for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

                    Share Capital                   Reserves  
 

   Shares to Contributed     
  Amount be issued surplus Warrants Deficit Total 
 

Balance, December 31, 2011  $ 1,567,624  $ 64,000  $ 165,719  $ 72,591  $(1,967,169)  $ (97,235)  
 

Common Shares issued pursuant to 
private placement (note 12(vi))   110,800   (64,000)   -   30,200   -   77,000  

Common Shares issued pursuant to 
private placement (note 12(vii))   791,126   -   -   658,874   -   1,450,000  

Share issue costs (notes 12(vi) and (vii))   (90,781)   -   -   -   -   (90,781)  

Expired warrants   -   -   67,500   (67,500)   -   -  

Share based payments    -   -   205,988   -   -   205,988  

Value attributed to equity components of 
convertible debenture financing (note 11(i))   -   -   99,720   99,720   -   199,440  

Convertible debenture issue costs (note 11(i))   -   -   (8,337)   (8,337)   -   (16,674)  

Finders' warrants (note 11(i))   -   -   -   13,711   -   13,711  

Extension of convertible debenture (note 11(ii))   -   -   19,200   -   -   19,200  

Net and comprehensive loss for the year   -   -   -   -   (1,377,396)   (1,377,396)  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012  $ 2,378,769  $ -  $ 549,790  $ 799,259  $(3,344,565)  $ 383,253  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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BacTech Environmental Corporation 
 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 
 

  2012   2011  
 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Cash paid to suppliers, employees and consultants $ (1,151,475)  $ (816,670)  

Interest paid  (58,808)   (17,683)  
 

  (1,210,283)   (834,353)  
 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Proceeds from private placements  1,527,000   676,000  

Proceeds from exercise of warrants  -   417,037  

Proceeds from exercise of options  -   30,000  

Proceeds from issue of debentures net of finders' fees  549,800   -  

Share issue costs  (90,781)   (28,502)  

Repayment of loan to REBgold Corporation  (51,254)   (180,177)  

Repayment of debenture financing  -   (4,000)  
 

  1,934,765   910,358  
 

Cash flow from investing activities 

Expenditures on mineral properties  (414,013)   (216,291)  
 

  (414,013)   (216,291)  
 

Increase (decrease) in cash   310,469   (140,286)  

Cash, beginning of year  99,114   239,400  
 

Cash, end of year  $ 409,583  $ 99,114  
 

 

Non-cash transactions: 

Property termination payments (note 5) $ -  $ 244,271  

Stock-based compensation (note 14) $ 205,988  $ 132,101  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Nature of Operations and Going Concern 
 

BacTech Environmental Corporation (the "Company" or "BEC") was incorporated by REBgold 
Corporation ("REBgold" and formerly BacTech Mining Corporation) on October 5, 2010 under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act and its head office is located at 50 Richmond Street East, Suite 
300, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.  Through the completion of the Plan of Arrangement transaction as 
described in Note 5, the Company was granted a license to use REBgold's proprietary bioleaching 
technology in the mining remediation business. The technology utilizes bacteria to extract precious 
and base metals and has been traditionally used to treat difficult-to-treat sulphide ores and 
concentrates.  The business plan for the Company is to apply the bioleaching technology to 
abatement and reclamation projects to remove the harmful elements such as arsenic and sulphur from 
the environment, where this can be assisted by a positive cash flow from metal recovery.  Examples 
of metals which can be extracted include gold, silver, cobalt, nickel, copper, uranium and zinc. 

The Company has no sources of recurring revenue, has incurred losses amounting to $3,344,565 
since its inception, has working capital of $43,241 at December 31, 2012, and is dependent on 
financings to fund its operations.  The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is 
dependent upon the continued financial support of shareholders or other investors, obtaining new 
financing on commercial terms acceptable to the Company to enable it to utilize its bioleaching 
technology for the recovery of mineral reserves, all of which outcomes are uncertain and raise 
substantial doubt as to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  These consolidated 
financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying values of the Company’s assets, 
liabilities, and expenses or to their classifications in the consolidated statements of financial position 
and consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss that would be necessary if the 
going concern assumption were inappropriate.  Such adjustments have not been quantified by 
management but could be material. 

The Company funded its operations for the year ended December 31, 2012 with two private 
placements which generated $1,591,000 in gross proceeds less the receipt of $64,000 in 2011 and 
through the issuance of a convertible debenture for gross proceeds of $585,000 less finders' fees of 
$35,200.  The Company does not have sufficient cash reserves to fund its administrative costs and 
fully fund all project development initiatives for the coming twelve month period, and to repay its 
liabilities to trade creditors and debt holders.  Management is actively involved in identifying mining 
ventures amenable to the application of the Company’s technology license, and in seeking new 
equity financing to enable it to service the Company’s existing liabilities and its ongoing 
administrative costs.  There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in these 
initiatives. 
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2. Basis of Consolidation and Presentation 
 

 Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
("IASB") and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") effective December 
31, 2012. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors of 
the Company on April 29, 2013. 

 Basis of Preparation and Presentation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the 
revaluation of certain financial instruments. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow information. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. 

 Basis of consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiary, BacTech Manitoba Corp. Accounting policies of the subsidiary have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiary. 

Intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealized income and expenses arising from 
intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

 Measurement Uncertainty 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain 
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
outcomes could differ from these estimates. These consolidated financial statements include 
estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such estimates are pervasive throughout 
the financial statements, and may require accounting adjustments based on future occurrences. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
future periods, if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on 
historical experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued 
 

Measurement Uncertainty - continued 

Critical accounting estimates: 

Significant assumptions about the future that management has made that could result in a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from 
assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 

 • the recoverability of mineral property acquisition costs and mineral properties and deferred 
exploration costs that are included in the statements of financial position; 

 • the inputs used in accounting for share based payment transactions in net loss and 
comprehensive loss; 

 • management's assumption of no material restoration, rehabilitation, and environmental 
provision based on the facts and circumstances that existed during the year; and 

• the inputs used in determining the fair value of the convertible debentures. 

 Foreign Currency Translation 

The Company’s exploration and development activities occur primarily in an economic environment 
where the functional currency is the Canadian dollar.  Transactions in foreign currencies are 
translated to the functional currency at exchange rates in effect at the dates of the transactions.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the Canadian dollar are 
translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange rate as at the end of the reporting period.  
Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates at the transaction date.   
Depreciation is translated at historical exchange rates at the transaction date.  The calculated 
exchange gains and losses are included in net loss and comprehensive loss for the year. 

 Environmental Liability, Contingency, and Other Provisions 

A provision is recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. 

A legal or constructive obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation, or environmental costs may 
arise when environmental disturbance is caused by the exploration, development, or ongoing 
production of a mineral property interest. Such costs, discounted to their net present value, are 
provided for and capitalized to the carrying amount of the asset as soon as the obligation to incur 
such costs arises. Discount rates using a pretax rate that reflects the time value of money are used to 
calculate the net present value. These costs are charged against net loss over the economic life of the 
related asset, through depreciation using either a unit-of-production or the straight-line method, as 
appropriate. The related liability is adjusted for each period for the unwinding of the discount rate 
and for changes to the current market-based discount rate, amount or timing of the underlying cash 
flows needed to settle the obligation.  To date, no such obligation has been identified. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued 
 

 Impairment of Assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial 
assets and its deferred exploration costs to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. Where such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value in use.  Fair value is determined as the 
reasonable amount that would be obtained from the asset’s arms length sale. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market conditions of the time value of money and the specific asset’s risks. If the 
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
is reduced to its recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognized in the profit or loss. To 
test impairment, assets are allocated to cash-generating units to which the exploration activity relates. 
For an asset that does not generate cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash 
generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
new estimated net recoverable amount. The new carrying amount will not be greater than the 
carrying amount that would have existed if no impairment loss had been recognized in prior years.   
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 Financial Instruments 

Financial assets 

The Company classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories, depending on the 
purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Company's accounting policy for each category is as 
follows: 

Fair value through profit or loss - This category comprises derivatives, or assets acquired or incurred 
principally for the purpose of being sold or repurchased in the near term. They are carried in the 
consolidated statements of financial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the 
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. 

Loans and receivables  - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are carried at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method less any provision for impairment. Individually significant receivables are 
considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a 
specific counterparty will default. 

Held-to-maturity investments - These assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Company's management has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. These assets are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. If there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired, determined 
by reference to external credit ratings and other relevant indicators, the financial asset is measured at 
the present value of estimated future cash flows. Any changes to the carrying amount of the 
investment, including impairment losses, are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued 
 

Financial Instruments - continued 

Available-for-sale - Non-derivative financial assets not included in the above categories are 
classified as available-for-sale. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in 
other comprehensive income. Where a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset 
constitutes objective evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed from equity and 
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. 

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for 
impairment at least at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired when there is 
any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Different 
criteria to determine impairment are applied for each category of financial assets described above. 

Financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities - This category includes all other financial liabilities, all of which are 
recognized at amortized cost.  

The Company's financial instruments consist of the following: 

Financial assets: Classification: 
 

Cash  Loans and receivables 

Other receivables  Loans and receivables 
 

Financial liabilities: Classification: 
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities 

Payable to REBgold Corporation Other financial liabilities 

Debentures payable Other financial liabilities 
 

 Equipment 

Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss. Cost 
includes expenditures associated with bringing the asset to its operating location and condition. 
Except for land and assets in the course of construction, the costs of  equipment are depreciated over 
their expected useful lives, on a straight-line basis at the following rate: 

 Equipment and fixtures - 5 years 

The amount of depreciation of equipment is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lesser of mine 
life or estimated useful life of the asset to the residual value of the asset. Each part of the item of a 
building, plant or equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, is 
depreciated separately if their useful lives differ.  

The Company reviews the useful life, depreciation method and residual value and carrying value of 
equipment at each reporting date.  

Expenditures that extend the useful lives of the equipment are capitalized and depreciated over the 
remaining useful lives of the assets. Repairs and maintenance expenditures are expensed as incurred. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued 
 

 Exploration and Development Activities 

Deferred exploration costs include the direct costs related to mineral properties, including costs of 
acquiring mining properties and deferred exploration and development costs.  These costs are 
capitalized and accumulated on a property by property basis and will be depreciated on the unit of 
production method based upon estimated proven and probable mineral reserves, or written off if the 
properties are abandoned or the carrying value is determined to be in excess of possible recoverable 
amounts. 

Costs for general exploration prior to obtaining legal rights to explore the subject property are 
expensed as incurred.   

 Government Grants 

Government grants are recognized in the consolidated financial statements in the period where it 
becomes reasonably certain that the conditions attaching to the grant will be met, and that the grant 
will be received. Grants relating to income are shown as a deduction in the reported expense. Grants 
relating to assets are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset. 

 Loss per Share 

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by 
dividing the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is determined by 
adjusting the loss attributable to common shareholders and the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding for the effects of all warrants, options, and convertible debentures outstanding 
that may add to the total number of common shares unless their effect would be anti-dilutive. 

 Share Based Payments 

The fair values of employee share option plan issuances are measured at the date of grant of the 
options using the Black-Scholes pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted.  The resulting cost, as adjusted for the expected and actual 
level of vesting of the options, is charged to income over the period in which the options vest. At the 
end of each reporting period before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the number of 
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued 
 

 Income Taxes 

Income tax on the net loss for the years presented comprises current and deferred tax.  

Current income tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at year end, adjusted for amendments to tax payable 
with regard to previous periods. 

Deferred income tax is provided using the asset and liability method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  

No deferred income tax is recognized for temporary differences arising from the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities that affect either accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted that are 
expected to be applied to taxable income in the years in which the temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled. 

A deferred income tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does 
not consider it probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance 
against that excess. 

 Investment tax credits 

The Company claims research and development deductions and related investment tax credits for 
income tax purposes based on management's interpretation of the applicable legislation under The 
Canadian Income Tax Act.  These claims are subject to review by the Canada Revenue Agency. 

The investment tax credits recoverable are comprised of federal and provincial investment tax credit 
claims with respect to qualifying scientific research and development expenditures incurred by the 
Company.  The benefit to these investment tax credits is accrued when there is reasonable assurance 
that the credits will be realized.  The amount recoverable is deducted from the related deferred 
exploration costs on the statement of financial position. 

 Cash 

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand, money market deposits and other short term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognized when the service is completed in the case of consulting activities and upon 
delivery of products or technology when all significant risks and rewards of ownership have passed 
to the customer and collection is reasonably assured. 
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4. Future Changes in Accounting Policies 
 

The IASB has issued a new standard, IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (IFRS 9), which will ultimately 
replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement (IAS 39).  IFRS 9 uses a single 
approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing 
the multiple rules in IAS 39.  Most of the disclosure requirement in IAS 39 for classification and 
measurement of financial liabilities were carried forward to IFRS 9.  The standard becomes effective 
January 1, 2015.  The Company has yet to assess the impact of the new standard. 

IFRS 10, 11, 12 and 13 were all issued in May 2011 and are effective for annual periods beginning 
January 1, 2013, with early adoption allowed.  The Company has yet to assess the impact, if any,  of 
these new standards. 

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, replaces the consolidation guidance in IAS 27, 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and SIC-12 Consolidation - Special Purpose 
Entities, by introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective of 
the nature of the investee. 

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, introduces new accounting requirements for joint arrangements, 
replacing IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. It eliminates the option of accounting for jointly 
controlled entities by proportionate consolidation. 

IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, requires enhanced disclosures about both 
consolidated entities and unconsolidated entities in which an entity has involvement. 

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, replaces the guidance on fair value measurement in existing 
IFRS accounting literature with a single standard.  It defines and provides guidance on determining 
fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements, but does not change the 
requirements regarding which items are measured or disclosed at fair value. 

IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements ("IAS 1") amendment, issued by the IASB in June 2011, 
requires an entity to group items presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on the basis 
of whether they may be reclassified to earnings subsequent to initial recognition. For those items 
presented before taxes, the amendments to IAS 1 also require that the taxes related to the two 
separate groups be presented separately. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after July 1, 2012, with earlier adoption permitted.  The Company is assessing the impact of 
IAS 1 on its results of operations and financial position. 

IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures prescribes the accounting for investments in 
associates and sets out the requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for 
investments in associates and joint ventures. IAS 28 applies to all entities that are investors with joint 
control of, or significant influence over, an investee (associate or joint venture). This standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early application permitted.  
The Company is assessing the impact of IAS 28 on its results of operations and financial position. 
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5. Plan of Arrangement 
 

Effective December 2, 2010, REBgold Corporation ("REBgold") completed a divisive 
reorganization by way of a Plan of Arrangement (the "Arrangement") whereby a newly formed 
subsidiary, the Company, was granted rights and interests in REBgold’s existing and proposed 
tailings remediation projects and an exclusive, perpetual, royalty free license to use REBgold’s 
proprietary bioleaching technology for reclamation of historic mine tailings.  REBgold retained the 
primary rights to the bioleaching technology, as well as all of REBgold’s existing mining assets. 

REBgold shareholders voted in favour of the Arrangement at a Special Meeting of Shareholders held 
on November 12, 2010.  Subsequent to the Arrangement, REBgold continued to trade on the TSX 
Venture Exchange ("TSX V") under the symbol RBG, and the Company started to trade on the 
Canadian National Stock Exchange under the symbol BAC. 

As the Arrangement resulted in no substantial change of ownership, the exchange of net assets 
pursuant to the Arrangement was measured at its net book value and was recorded on the books of 
the Company as follows: 

 

 2010 
 

Mineral properties and deferred exploration costs 
transferred from REBgold  $ 463,984  

Accounts payable transferred from REBgold  (49,946)  

Book value of debentures payable assumed from 
REBgold (note 11(ii))  (66,642)  

Loan payable to REBgold (note 6)  (250,000)  
 

Value attributed to common shares issued  $ 97,396  
 

Common shares  

Under the terms of the Arrangement, REBgold's shareholders received, in exchange for each existing 
common share of REBgold, one pre-consolidation common share of REBgold and one-fifth of a 
common share of the Company.  Effective May 30, 2012, REBgold completed a consolidation of its 
shares on the basis of one post-consolidation common share for each 10 pre-consolidation common 
shares. 

Share purchase warrants (note 13) 

All outstanding share purchase warrants of REBgold became exercisable for one common share of 
REBgold and one-fifth of a common share of the Company.  The proceeds received by REBgold on 
the exercise of share purchase warrants are to be distributed 83% to REBgold and 17% to the 
Company as determined by the formula set out in the Arrangement which considers the volume 
weighted average trading price of the REBgold and Company for the first 20 trading days subsequent 
to the Arrangement.  Subsequent to the REBgold share consolidation the exercise of one eligible 
warrant of REBgold will require the issuance of two shares of the Company. 

Stock options 

All outstanding stock options of REBgold remained exercisable for shares of REBgold under the 
original terms of the options.  No shares of the Company are issuable upon the exercise of these 
options. 
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5. Plan of Arrangement - continued 
 

Debentures payable (note 11(ii)) 

The Company assumed 20% of the face value of REBgold's convertible debentures liability.  Upon 
maturity, the Company will repay to REBgold 20% of the principal plus 20% of the interest accrued 
from December 2, 2010 to maturity.  REBgold remains indebted to the debenture holders for the full 
principal of the debenture.  Subsequent to the REBgold share consolidation, for every share of 
REBgold issued in the event of a conversion, two common shares of the Company will be issued. 

Papua New Guinea arrangement 

Pursuant to a settlement agreement between REBgold and Yamana Gold Inc. ("Yamana") dated July 
8, 2010, REBgold agreed to issue to Yamana 6,106,780 common shares.  These shares were not 
issued before the Arrangement and consequently, for every share of REBgold issuable, one-fifth of a 
common share of the Company became issuable. In February 2011, REBgold issued 6,106,780 
common shares to Yamana, along with the Company issuing 1,221,356 common shares valued at 
$244,271 to Yamana. 

6. Payable to REBgold Corporation  
 

  2012   2011  
 

Debentures payable (note 11(ii))  $ 67,163  $ 78,363  

Accrued interest on debenture (note 11(ii))   3,280   3,280  

Plan of Arrangement loan (note 5)  69,823   69,823  

Other  -   51,254  
 

  140,266   202,720  

Less: current portion  73,103   202,720  
 

 $ 67,163  $ -  
 

The balance is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and has no set terms of repayment. 

7. Deferred Exploration Costs  
 

The deferred exploration costs are comprised as follows: 
 

    Snow 

    Lake  

Balance, December 31, 2010    $ 32,553  

Additions     308,706  
 

Balance, December 31, 2011     341,259  

Additions     800,885  

Third party project contribution     (300,000)  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012    $ 842,144  
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7. Deferred Exploration Costs - continued 
 

Snow Lake Concentrate Stockpile, Manitoba 

In early 2010, REBgold became aware of a reclamation opportunity in Snow Lake, Manitoba.  In the 
1950’s, a gold mine owned by The Britannia Mining and Smelting Company was opened and 
operated at Snow Lake.  Approximately 10% of the ore mined was arsenopyrite (arsenic bearing) 
and refractory in nature, which required additional treatment to liberate the gold for recovery.  Given 
the high levels of arsenic that reported to the concentrate, conventional roasting or smelting were 
ruled out as process options and the concentrate was treated by direct cyanidation to recover as much 
gold as possible.  The residue was stockpiled at the mine site to await future technologies capable of 
extracting the remaining gold values.  

REBgold approached the Manitoba Ministry of Innovation, Energy and Mines in April 2010 and 
outlined a plan whereby REBgold, at its own expense, would use samples obtained from the 
concentrate stockpile to determine whether the material was amenable to bioleaching for liberating 
and extracting the gold while stabilizing the arsenic as a ferric-arsenate.  The Manitoba government 
granted approval for REBgold to conduct the sampling program, subject to oversight by an 
independent engineering consulting firm which the government engaged to ensure that there would 
be no adverse environmental impacts from drilling through the arsenopyrite. 

Pursuant to the Plan of Arrangement, REBgold assigned its rights and commitments to the Company 
on December 2, 2010. The deferred exploration costs incurred by REBgold up to the date of the Plan 
of Arrangement were transferred to BEC as part of the Plan of Arrangement transaction as described 
in note 5. 

In February 2011, BEC tendered a proposal for the remediation of the arsenopyrite stockpile at Snow 
Lake under a request for proposals from Manitoba Innovation, Energy and Mines, and in December 
2011, was awarded the contract by the Mines Branch of the Manitoba Department of Innovation, 
Energy and Mines. The contract is subject to negotiating a suitable agreement between BEC and the 
Manitoba government.  BEC has proposed a "no cost to the taxpayer" approach to the clean up and 
committed to the commencement of a bioleaching plant by December 21, 2012; this was later 
extended to December 31, 2013 (note 23).  The Company will recover payable metals for its own 
account from the stockpile while treating the contained arsenic.  After the Company recoups all of its 
project-related capital expenses from the sale of the product, the Province of Manitoba shall receive 
a 2% Net Smelter Return ("NSR").  During the duration of the agreement, the Company has the right 
to purchase from the Province of Manitoba one half of the NSR (1%) for a cash payment of 
$500,000.  In addition to this NSR, a royalty of $5 per ounce of gold recovered is payable by the 
Company to the Town of Snow Lake. 

In December 2011, the Company entered into a Contribution Agreement with a third party whereby 
the third party contributed $300,000 as reimbursement of certain costs related to the Preliminary 
Economic Assessment ("PEA") of the Snow Lake project which was released in October 2012.  In 
consideration of the contribution, the Company agreed to permit the third party to (i) actively 
participate in the PEA, including dedicating engineering resources, managing detailed engineering 
and participating in hazard and operability reviews, and (ii) have access to certain project 
information.  For a period of ninety days from the date of receipt of the PEA by the third party, the 
Company agreed not to initiate any further proposals by outside parties relating to direct 
participation in the development of the Snow Lake project.  This ninety day period expired 
subsequent to the reporting date. 
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8. Equipment  
 

    Equipment 
 Cost   and fixtures 
 

Balance, December 31, 2012 and 2011    $ 2,794  
 

 Accumulated Depreciation   
 

Balance, December 31, 2010    $ 279  

Additions     1,100  
 

Balance, December 31, 2011     1,379  

Additions     1,100  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012    $ 2,479  
 

Net book value at December 31, 2011    $ 1,415  
 

Net book value at December 31, 2012    $ 315  
 

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities  
 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following: 
 

  2012   2011  
 

Trade payables $ 333,703  $ 315,069  

Accrued liabilities  32,815   66,622  
 

 $ 366,518  $ 381,691  
 

10. Related Party Transactions  
 

Related parties include the Board of Directors, officers, close family members, and enterprises which 
are controlled by these individuals as well as certain persons performing similar functions. 

The remuneration of key management of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 
2011 was as follows: 

 

  2012   2011  
 

Aggregate compensation included in salaries and 
management fees $ 242,772  $ 215,820  

Aggregate compensation included in deferred 
exploration costs $ -  $ 63,925  

Share-based payments $ 103,524  $ 62,480  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, 750,000 (2011 - nil) share options were granted to related 
parties valued at $103,524 (2011 - $nil). 

At December 31, 2012 the Company owed $13,039 (2011 - $54,720) to officers of the Company 
which has been recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
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11. Debentures Payable  
 

(i) Convertible Debentures - Maturing April 25, 2014 

Between April 25, 2012 and May 3, 2012, the Company closed subscriptions of a private placement 
for gross proceeds of $585,000 whereby the Company issued 58.5 units, with each unit being 
comprised of a 2-year $10,000 principal convertible redeemable debenture ("debenture") and 50,000 
common share purchase warrants. 

The debentures mature on April 25, 2014 and bear interest at a fixed rate of 12% per year payable 
quarterly starting September 30, 2012.  Under the terms of the 2-year debentures, the holders of the 
debentures have the option to convert their debentures in full into common shares at a price of $0.20 
per share.  Each warrant is exercisable for one common share at a price of $0.20 per common share 
until April 25, 2014. 

The Company used the residual value method to allocate the proceeds between the liability and 
equity components.  Under this method, the fair value of the liability component (the "Debenture 
Liability") of $385,560 was computed as the present value of future principal and interest payments 
discounted at a rate of 42% per annum.  The residual value of $199,440 was attributed to the equity 
components and allocated equally between the 2,925,000 warrants issued and the option to convert 
the debentures into 2,925,000 common shares (the "Conversion Feature") as their excercise prices 
and expected lives were equal.  The transaction costs totalling $48,910, comprised of a cash 
commission of $32,500 and 210,000 finder's warrants valued at $13,711 (note 13), were then 
allocated proportionally to each component with the Debenture Liability being allocated $32,240 and 
the remaining $16,670 allocated equally between the warrants and the Conversion Feature. 

 

  2012   2011  
 

Face value of Debentures $ 585,000  $ -  

Discount on face value of Debentures  (199,440)   -  

Transaction costs allocated to Debentures  (32,240)   -  

Accretion  81,964   -  
 

 $ 435,284  $ -  
 

(ii) REBgold Corporation's Convertible Debentures - Maturing April 13, 2015 

Under the Arrangement as described in note 5, the Company assumed 20% of REBgold's debenture 
obligation which consisted of 43 $10,000 unsecured convertible debentures, initially maturing on 
October 13, 2011 and bearing interest at 18% per year payable semi-annually.  On December 1, 
2010, 20% of the book value of the debenture obligation was $66,642 and was attributed to the 
Company; this will accrete to $86,000 over the remaining life of the debenture.  Upon maturity, the 
Company will pay to REBgold 20% of the principal plus 20% of the interest accrued from December 
2, 2010 to maturity and REBgold will repay the debenture obligation and accrued interest to the 
debenture holders. 

The convertible debentures may be converted by the holders at any time at a price of $0.10 per 
common share (the "Conversion Price") or in the event that the closing price of REBgold’s common 
shares on the TSX-V is at or greater than $0.15, REBgold shall have the right, in its sole discretion, 
to redeem the convertible debentures through the issuance of common shares at the Conversion 
Price.  For every share of REBgold issued in the event of a conversion, one-fifth of a common share 
of the Company will be issued. 
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11. Debentures Payable - continued 
 

(ii) REBgold Corporation's Convertible Debentures - Maturing April 13, 2015 - continued 

On October 13, 2011, REBgold extended the expiry date of $410,000 principal amount of these 
convertible debentures and 4.1 million of the common share purchase warrants originally issued in 
October 2010 (note 5).  Each holder of debentures and warrants was offered the choice to either 
(i) extend the maturity date of the debentures held by that holder to April 13, 2012, in which case the 
expiry date of the warrants held by that holder would also be extended to April 13, 2012, or 
(ii) accept payment in full of the debentures on the original maturity date of October 13, 2011, in 
which case the warrants held by that holder would also expire on the original expiry date of October 
13, 2011. The holder of $20,000 principal amount of the debentures elected to be repaid, and the 
balance of $410,000 principal amount of debentures was extended and remains outstanding. The fair 
value of the extension of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
at $32,000. The assumptions used to determine the value were: expected dividend yield -  0%; 
weighted expected volatility - 142.7%; risk-free interest rate - 1.1%; and an expected life of 0.5 
years. The $32,000 was then applied as a discount on  the  face  value  of  the  debentures,  of  which  
$6,400  was  attributed  to  the Company.  The effective interest rate of the extended debentures is 
36.4%. 

On April 17, 2012, REBgold extended the expiry of these convertible debentures and 4.1 million of 
the common share purchase warrants originally issued in October 2010. Each holder of debentures 
and warrants agreed to extend the maturity date of the debentures held to April 13, 2015 and the 
expiry date of the warrants held by that holder to April 13, 2015. The fair value of the extension of 
the convertible debentures was determined by revaluing the debt using discounted cash flows and a 
discount rate of 35%.  The fair value of the debt was determined to be $314,000 with the residual 
$96,000 allocated to the conversion feature and applied as a discount on the face value of the 
debentures, of which $19,200 was attributed to the Company.  

Despite the modifications in 2011 and 2012, these debentures continue to bear interest at 18% per 
year payable semi-annually. 

The proportionate share of the debenture has been attributed to the Company as follows: 
 

Carrying value, December 31, 2010  $ 68,480  

Debenture repayment   (4,000)  

Accretion related to warrant extension   (6,400)  

Accretion expense   20,283  
 

Carrying value, December 31, 2011   78,363  

Fair value of extension   (19,200)  

Accretion expense   8,000  
 

Carrying value, December 31, 2012  (note 6)  $ 67,163  
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12. Share Capital   
 

Authorized: 

 Unlimited common shares without par value 

Issued and outstanding: 
 

                                                    Number    
     of Shares   Amount  
 

Balance, December 31, 2010  29,246,673  $ 357,190  

Shares issued in settlement of property termination 
obligation (notes 5 and (v))  1,221,356   244,271  

Shares issued pursuant to private placement (i)  3,000,000   600,000  

Warrants issued in private placement (i)  -   (67,500)  

Shares issued to REBgold Corporation warrant holders 
pursuant to plan of arrangement (ii)  4,510,332   373,687  

Shares issued pursuant to exercise of warrants (iii)  255,000   43,350  

Fair value of warrants exercised (iii)  -   5,279  

Shares issued pursuant to exercise of options (iv)  150,000   30,000  

Fair value of options exercised (iv)  -   14,940  

Share issue costs (i)  -   (33,593)   
 

Balance, December 31, 2011  38,383,361   1,567,624  
 

Private placement (vi)  705,000   141,000  

Private placement (vii)  9,666,666   1,450,000  

Warrants issued in private placements ((vi) and (vii))  -   (689,074)  

Share issue costs ((vi) and (vii))  -   (90,781)  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012  48,755,027  $ 2,378,769  
 

Activity 

(i) On June 29, 2011, the Company closed the first tranche of a private placement and issued 
2,500,000 units at a price of $0.20 per unit for gross proceeds of $500,000.  The second tranche 
was closed on July 15, 2011 where the Company issued an additional 500,000 units at a price of 
$0.20 per share.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one half of one common share 
purchase warrant.  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of 
$0.30 for one year from the date of closing.  The fair value of the common share purchase 
warrants issued in this placement was estimated to be $67,500.  The Company incurred finder's 
fees of $22,500 and issued 112,500 finder's warrants in connection with this private placement.  
Each finder's warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.20 for a 
period of one year from the date of closing.  The fair value of these finder's warrants was 
estimated at $5,091.  The Company also incurred legal consulting fees in connection with this 
private placement totaling $6,002. 
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12. Share Capital - continued  
 

Activity - continued 

(ii) Between January 1, 2011 and May 3, 2011, REBgold Corporation warrant holders exercised a 
total of 22,051,667 warrants to purchase 22,051,667 REBgold common shares for gross 
proceeds of $2,198,100.  Under the terms of the Arrangement, the Company  was obligated to 
issue 1 common share for each 5 common shares issued by REBgold, which is a total of 
4,510,332 of its common shares to be issued to these REBgold warrant holders. The Company 
was entitled to 17% of the gross proceeds on such warrant exercises.  REBgold Corporation 
paid the Company a total of $373,687 in connection with these warrant exercises. 

(iii) During fiscal 2011, warrant holders exercised a total of 255,000 warrants to purchase 255,000 
common shares of the Company for gross proceeds of $43,350.  The weighted average share 
price at the time these warrants were exercised was $0.18.  The fair value of the exercised 
warrants of $5,279, recognized at the time of the initial private placement, was reclassified from 
warrants reserve to share capital. 

(iv) During fiscal 2011, option holders exercised a total of 150,000 options to purchase 150,000 
common shares of the Company for gross proceeds of $30,000.  The weighted average share 
price at the time these options were exercised was $0.18.  The fair value of the exercised 
options of $14,940, recognized at the time of the initial grant, was reclassified from contributed 
surplus to share capital. 

(v) During fiscal 2011, pursuant to a settlement agreement between REBgold and Yamana dated 
July 8, 2010, REBgold agreed to issue to Yamana 610,678 common shares. These shares were 
not issued before the Arrangement and consequently, for every share of REBgold issuable, two 
common shares of the Company became issuable. In February 2011, REBgold issued 610,678 
common shares to Yamana, along with the Company issuing 1,221,356 common shares valued 
at $244,271 to Yamana. 

(vi) On January 18, 2012, the Company completed a private placement and issued 705,000 units at a 
price of $0.20 per unit for gross proceeds of $141,000, of which $64,000 was received prior to 
January 1, 2012.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one half of one common share 
purchase warrant.  Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at $0.30 for 
12 months from the date of closing.  All securities issued in connection with the offering and the 
underlying securities were subject to a four month hold period.  The fair value of common share 
purchase warrants issued in this placement was estimated at $30,200 (note 13).  The Company 
incurred share issue costs of $3,781 in connection with this private placement. 
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12. Share Capital - continued  
 

Activity - continued 

(vii) On October 3, 2012, BacTech closed the first tranche of a private placement of common share 
units at a price of $0.15 per Unit.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one 
non-transferable common share purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase 
one common share at a price of $0.17 for a period of 360 days from the first anniversary of the 
date of issue. The warrants can be exercised prior to the first anniversary of the date of issue 
provided that, after giving effect to the exercise, the holder shall not directly or indirectly own 
more than 19.99% of the issued and outstanding common shares of BacTech.  The fair value of 
common share purchase warrants issued in this placement was estimated at $658,874 (note 13).  
The common shares and warrants are subject to a four month hold period.  The Company paid 
finder's fees of $87,000 in connection with this private placement. 

 Option Three Advisory Services Limited (“Option Three”) has subscribed for $1,450,000 
(9,666,666) units.  As part of its subscription for units, Option Three and the Company have 
also entered into an Exclusivity Agreement whereby, subject to applicable law, Option Three 
will be entitled to nominate a member to the Board of Directors of BacTech for so long as it 
directly or indirectly holds at least 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
BacTech, and Option Three has been given exclusivity for five years with respect to the 
investment in future projects in certain Eastern European countries. As part of this agreement, 
Option Three has also agreed to not, at any time and together with its affiliates, indirectly or 
directly hold more than 19.99% of the issued and outstanding common shares of BacTech 
without the prior approval of BacTech. 
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13. Warrants Reserve 
 

The movements in the number and estimated fair value of outstanding broker warrants and share 
purchase warrants are as follows: 

 

  Number   Fair Value  
 

Balance, December 31, 2010  1,346,167  $ 27,866  

Warrants issued pursuant to private placement (note 12(i))  1,500,000   67,500  

Broker warrants issued (note 12(i))  112,500   5,091  

Warrants exercised during the year (note 12(iii))  (255,000)   (5,279)  

Expired during the year  (1,091,167)   (22,587)  
 

Balance, December 31, 2011  1,612,500   72,591  
 

Warrants issued pursuant to private placement (note 12(vi))  352,500   30,200  

Warrants issued pursuant to private placement (note 12(vii))  9,666,666   658,874  

Fair value of warrants issued with convertible debenture 
financing (note 11(i))  2,925,000   91,383  

Fair value of broker warrants issued with convertible 
debenture financing (note 11(i))  210,000   13,711  

Expired during the year  (1,500,000)   (67,500)  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012  13,266,666  $ 799,259  
 

Pursuant to the Arrangement as described in note 5, the Company has certain obligations pursuant to 
the REBgold warrants in existence at the time of the Arrangement, which upon being exercised, shall 
be satisfied by the issuance of one common share from REBgold and one-fifth of  one common share 
of the Company in accordance with the terms of the Arrangement.  

Upon the exercise of any of these REBgold warrants following the Arrangement, REBgold shall pay 
to the Company 17% of the exercise proceeds as consideration for the issuance of the Company's 
common shares.  REBgold shall retain the balance of the aggregate exercise price as consideration 
for the issuance of its common shares from the exercise of the warrant. 

In May 2012, REBgold consolidated its shares on a basis of 1 share for every 10 outstanding; 
consequently, the exercise of an eligible post-consolidation REBgold warrant will require the 
issuance of 2 shares of the Company.  As of December 31, 2012, REBgold had 4,777,833 common 
share purchase warrants outstanding which are subject to the Arrangement.  The Company’s 
obligation, if these warrants were exercised prior to expiry, would be to issue 9,555,667 common 
shares in return for its portion of the aggregate exercise proceeds of $848,835. 
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13. Warrants Reserve - continued 
 

The exercise price, contractual life, and the fair value assigned to warrants issued and outstanding as 
at December 31, 2012 are as follows: 

 

    Weighted Average 
  Weighted Average  Contractual Life 
 Warrants Exercise Price Fair Value  (years) 
 

 97,500  $ 0.20   $ 4,416   0.49  

 15,000   0.20    675   0.54  

 352,500   0.30    30,200   0.05  

 2,925,000   0.20    91,385   1.32  

 210,000   0.200       13,710     1.32  

 9,666,666   0.170    658,874   1.74  
 

 13,266,666  $ 0.18   $ 799,260   1.59  
 

The fair value of these warrants, issued during the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, was 
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:  

 

 2012  2011  
 

 Risk free interest rate 1.00%-1.70% 1.44% - 1.55 
 Expected dividend yield nil nil 
 Expected volatility 262% - 282% 102% 
 Expected life 1 - 2 years 1 - 2 year 

 

Option pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions regarding the expected volatility.  
Changes in assumptions can materially affect the estimate of fair value, and therefore, the use of the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, as required by IFRS, may not provide a realistic measure of the 
fair value of the Company’s warrants at the date of issue. 
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14. Contributed Surplus Reserve and Stock-Based Compensation   
 

The movements in the contributed surplus are as follows: 
 

 Fair Value 
  
 

Balance, December 31, 2010 $ 25,971  

Stock-based compensation  132,101  

Options exercised  (14,940)  

Warrants expired  22,587  
 

Balance, December 31, 2011  165,719  
 

Stock-based compensation  205,988  

Warrants expired  67,500  

Extension of convertible debentures (note 11(ii))  19,200  

Conversion feature of convertible debentures issued (note 11(i))  91,383  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012 $ 549,790  
 

The Company has a stock option plan ("the Plan"), under which the Company may grant options to 
directors, officers, and consultants.  Under the terms of the Plan that was approved by the 
shareholders on November 12, 2010, the Company is authorized to issue a maximum of 10% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares. 

The purpose of the Plan is to attract, retain and motivate directors, officers, and certain third party 
service providers by providing them with the opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the 
Company and benefit from its growth.  The options granted under the Plan are non-assignable, have 
a term of 5 years and vest over periods of up to one year from the date of issue. 

 

      Weighted- 
       Average 
         Number  Exercise 
       Outstanding Price 

 

Balance, December 31, 2010           2,100,000       $ 0.15  

Granted    250,000   0.20  

Exercised    (150,000)   0.20  

Cancelled/expired    (200,000)   0.16  
 

Balance, December 31, 2011           2,000,000        0.15  
 

Granted    1,500,000   0.20  
 

Balance, December 31, 2012           3,500,000       $ 0.17  
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14. Contributed Surplus Reserve and Stock-Based Compensation - continued 
 

Options to purchase common shares outstanding at December 31, 2012 carry exercise prices and 
remaining terms to maturity as follows: 

 

  Weighted   Weighted- 
  Average   Average 
 Exercise Options  Options Contractual 
 Price Outstanding Exercisable Life (years) 

 

 $ 0.15    1,950,000   1,950,000   2.9  

  0.20    50,000   50,000   3.2  

  0.20    1,500,000   1,500,000   4.5  
 

 $ 0.17    3,500,000   3,500,000   3.6  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company granted 1,500,000 (2011 - 250,000) new 
options at an exercise price of $0.20 (2011 - $0.20) which vested immediately.  The fair value of 
options vested during the year ended December 31, 2012, was estimated at the date of grant using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:  

 

  2012   2011  
 

 Risk free interest rate 1.14% 2.13% - 2.48% 
 Expected dividend yield nil nil 
 Expected volatility 262% - 282% 124% - 134% 
 Expected life 1 - 5 years 2.4 years 

 

The Company recognized a total expense of $205,988 (2011 - $132,101) in respect of the options 
vesting during the year.  Stock-based compensation expense was included in operating and 
administrative costs (note 17). 

Option pricing models require the input of subjective assumptions regarding the expected volatility.  
Changes in assumptions can materially affect the estimate of fair value, and therefore, use of 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, may not provide a realistic measure of the fair value of the 
Company’s options at the date of issue. 
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15. Loss per Share  
 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per common share for the 
years ended December 31: 

 

  2012   2011  
 

Numerator: 

Loss attributable to common shareholders $ (1,377,396)  $ (1,409,600)  
 

Denominator: 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding   41,424,355   34,888,631  
 

Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.03)  $ (0.04)  
 

In the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, the potential effect of the exercise of stock options, 
warrants, and convertible debentures was excluded as the effect was anti-dilutive. 

16. Income Taxes  
 

The reconciliation of the combined Canadian federal and provincial statutory income tax rate on the 
net loss for the years ended December 31st is as follows: 

 

  2012   2011  
 

Loss before recovery of income taxes $ (1,377,396)  $ (1,409,600)  
 

Expected income tax recovery  $ (365,010)  $ (398,200)  

Tax rate changes and other adjustments  (116,040)   41,900  

Non-deductible expenses  26,110   775  

Stock based payments  54,590   33,025  

Change in tax benefits not recognized  400,350   322,500  
 

Recovery of income taxes $ -  $ -  
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16. Income Taxes - continued  
 

The 2012 statutory tax rate of 26.50% differs from the 2011 statutory tax rate of 28.25% because of 
the reduction in federal and provincial substantively enacted tax rates. 

Deferred income tax 

Deferred income taxes are provided as a result of temporary differences that arise due to the 
differences between the income tax values and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities.  
Deferred income tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following deductible 
temporary differences: 

 

  2012   2011  
 

Deferred income tax assets 

Non-capital losses carried forward $ 2,482,860  $ 1,411,900  

SR&ED pool $ 294,410  $ -  

Research and development tax credits $ 63,160  $ -  

Donations $ 3,000  $ -  

Share issue costs $ 102,300  $ 39,800  

Mineral interests $ 90,420  $ 373,200  

Equipment and intangible assets $ 1,957,530  $ 1,956,400  
 

The Company's Canadian non-capital income tax losses expire as follows: 

2030  $ 162,300  

2031   1,223,470  

2032   1,097,090  
 

  $ 2,482,860  
 

Share issue and financing costs will be fully amortized by December 31, 2016. 

Research and development tax credits expire in 2031. 

The remaining deductible temporary differences may be carried forward indefinitely. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the group can utilize the benefits therefrom. 
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17. Operating and Administrative Costs  
 

Operating and administrative costs consist of the following: 
 

  2012   2011  
  

Salaries and management fees (note 10) $ 389,736  $ 437,129  

Share based payments (note 10)  205,988   132,101  

Shareholder communication and filing fees  177,483   235,793  

Professional fees  167,765   120,632  

Travel  151,300   114,429  

General office expenses  123,360   93,089  

Foreign exchange gain  3,392   (510)  

Depreciation (note 8)  1,100   1,100  
  

  $ 1,220,124  $ 1,133,763  
  

Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation. 

18. Finance Charges  
 

Finance charges consist of the following: 
 

  2012   2011  
  

Debenture interest $ 62,139  $ 15,320  

Accretion on debenture payable  89,964   13,883  

Other interest  5,169   2,363  
  

  $ 157,272  $ 31,566  
  

19. Commitments 
 

Operating Lease Commitments  

Minimum payments due under operating leases in respect of office space are set out below: 

2013 $ 82,720  

2014  82,720  

2015  82,720  

2016  82,720  

2017  41,360  
 

 $ 372,240  
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20. Financial Risk Factors  
 

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are 
summarized below: 

 Credit risk 

The Company has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from operations.  Management 
believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to sales tax receivable is remote. 

Liquidity risk 

The Company's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient liquidity 
to meet current liabilities when due. As at December 31, 2012, the Company had a cash balance of 
$409,583 (2011 - $99,114) to settle current liabilities of $439,621 (2011 - $584,411). The Company 
does not have sufficient cash reserves to fund its administrative costs and fully fund all project 
development initiatives for the coming twelve month period, and to repay its liabilities to trade 
creditors and debt holders.  Management is actively involved in identifying reclamation ventures 
amenable to the application of the Company’s technology and in seeking new equity financing to 
enable it to service the Company’s existing liabilities and its ongoing administrative costs.  There 
can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in these initiatives. 

Market risk 

(a) Interest rate risk 

The Company has cash balances earning interest at a variable interest rate, convertible debentures 
bearing interest at a fixed rate of 12%, and debentures payable through REBgold bearing interest 
at a fixed rate of 18% per year. The Company's current policy is to invest excess cash in 
investment-grade short-term deposit certificates issued by its banking institutions.  The Company 
had no such deposit certificates at the end of the reporting period. 

(b) Foreign currency risk 

The Company's functional currency is the Canadian dollar. Major purchases are transacted in 
Canadian dollars. The Company funds certain operations and administrative expenses using 
United States dollars.  Management believes the foreign exchange risk derived from currency 
conversions is negligible and therefore does not hedge its foreign exchange risk.  

(c) Price risk 

The Company is not exposed to price risk with respect to commodity prices because the 
Company is not a producing entity. 
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21. Capital Management  
 

The Company defines capital as share capital, warrants reserve, contributed surplus reserve, and 
deficit.  The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard its accumulated capital in 
order to provide an adequate return to shareholders by maintaining a sufficient level of funds, in 
order to support the acquisition, exploration, and development of mineral properties. The Board of 
Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but rather relies 
on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain future development of the business. 

The Company is currently in the exploration stage; as such, the Company is dependent on external 
financing to fund its activities. In order to carry out exploration and pay for administrative costs, the 
Company will spend its existing working capital and raise additional amounts as needed. The 
Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in additional 
properties, if it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential, and if it has adequate 
financial resources to do so. 

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this 
approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  The Company does not have 
externally imposed capital requirements. 

22. Segmented Information 
 

The Company has one global operating segment, being the development of projects where the 
Company can use its bacterial technologies and related intellectual property.  No revenues have been 
derived from those technologies and property to date. 

23. Subsequent Event 
 

An amendment to the December 2011 Snow Lake remediation agreement with the Mines Branch of 
the Manitoba Department of Innovation, Energy and Mines was executed subsequent to the reporting 
date wherein the latest commencement date of the treatment of arsenopyrite residue at the 
bioleaching plant was extended by one year from December 31, 2013 to December 31, 2014.   
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 

 
 

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of financial results is dated April 29, 
2013 and reviews the business of BacTech Environmental Corporation (the “Company” or “BacTech”), 
for the year ended December 31, 2012, and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited 
annual  consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2012. This 
MD&A and the accompanying audited annual consolidated financial statements and related notes for the 
year ended December 31, 2012 have been reviewed by the Company’s Audit Committee and approved by 
the Company’s Board of Directors. 
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding potential 
mineralization, resources and research results, and future plans and objectives of the Company, that are 
subject to various risks and uncertainties.  There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to 
be accurate, and actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such 
statements. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. 
Forward-looking statements contained herein are made as of the date of this MD&A and the Company 
disclaims, other than as required by law, any obligation to update any forward-looking statements 
whether as a result of new information, results, future events, circumstances, or if management's 
estimates or opinions should change, or otherwise. 
 

A. Core Business Strategy 
 
BacTech Environmental Corporation (the "Company" or "BacTech") was incorporated by 

REBgold Corporation ("REBgold" and formerly known as BacTech Mining Corporation) on October 5, 
2010 under the Canada Business Corporations Act.  Through the completion of the Plan of Arrangement 
(“Arrangement”) transaction described below, the Company was granted a perpetual, exclusive, royalty 
free license to use REBgold Corporation’s proprietary bioleaching technology (“BACOX”) in the 
remediation business for mining.  The technology utilizes bacteria to liberate precious and base metals 
and has been traditionally used to treat difficult-to-treat sulphide ores and concentrates.  The business plan 
for the Company is to apply the bioleaching technology to abatement and reclamation projects to remove 
harmful elements such as arsenic and sulphur from the environment, where this can be assisted by a 
positive cash flow from metal recovery. Examples of metals which can be extracted include gold, silver, 
cobalt, nickel, copper, uranium and zinc. 

 
Bioleaching is an environmentally-friendly process technology for treating difficult-to-treat 

sulphide ores and concentrates.  By replacing smelting and/or roasting with a bioleach process, the 
production of sulphur dioxide emissions which is the primary source of acid rain, and arsenic trioxide are 
eliminated.  Furthermore, the capital and operating costs of a bioleach facility are significantly less when 
compared to other existing treatment methods. 



2 

Plan of Arrangement (“Arrangement”) 

Effective December 2, 2010, REBgold completed a divisive reorganization by way of an 
Arrangement whereby a newly-formed subsidiary, BacTech Environmental Corporation, was granted 
rights and interests in REBgold's existing and proposed tailings remediation projects and an exclusive, 
perpetual, royalty-free licence to use REBgold’s proprietary bioleaching technology for reclamation of 
mine tailings and waste rock.  REBgold retained the primary rights to the bioleaching technology, as well 
as all of REBgold’s existing project assets. 

 
On December 2, 2010, BacTech started to trade on the Canadian National Stock Exchange under 

the symbol “BAC” and REBgold continued to trade on the TSX Venture Exchange under the symbol 
“RBG”.  On December 2, 2010, under the terms of the Arrangement, REBgold's shareholders received, in 
exchange for each existing common share of REBgold, one new common share of REBgold and one-fifth 
of a common share of BacTech Environmental Corporation. 

 
B. Mineral Reclamation Projects 

 
The mineral reclamation projects and deferred assessment and evaluation expenditures are 
comprised as follows: 

    Snow  
Lake 

 Total 

Balance December 31, 2010    32,553  32,553 
Expenditures on property    308,706  308,706 
Balance, December  31, 2011    341,259  341,259 
Third party project contributions    (300,000)  (300,000) 
Expenditures on property    800,885  800,885 
Balance, December 31, 2012    842,144  842,144 

 
Snow Lake Arsenopyrite Concentrate Stockpile - Manitoba 
 
In early 2010, the Company pursued a reclamation opportunity in Snow Lake, Manitoba.  In the 

1950’s, a gold mine named Nor-Acme was opened and operated at Snow Lake, Manitoba.  
Approximately 10% of the ore was classified as arsenopyrite (arsenic bearing) and refractory in nature, 
which required additional treatment to liberate the gold for recovery.  Given the high levels of arsenic that 
reported to the concentrate, conventional roasting or smelting were ruled out as process options and the 
concentrate was treated by direct cyanidation to recover as much gold as possible.  The residue was 
stockpiled at the mine site to await future technologies capable of extracting the remaining gold values. 

  
The Company approached the Manitoba Ministry of Innovation, Energy and Mines in April 2010 

and outlined a plan whereby the Company, at its own expense, would use samples obtained from the 
concentrate stockpile to determine whether the material was amenable to bioleaching for liberating and 
extracting the gold while stabilizing the arsenic.  The Manitoba government granted approval for the 
Company to conduct the sampling program, subject to oversight by an independent engineering 
consulting firm which the government engaged to ensure that there would be no adverse environmental 
impacts from drilling  the arsenopyrite stockpile. 

 
In February 2011, BacTech tendered a proposal for the remediation of the arsenopyrite stockpile 

at Snow Lake under a request for proposals (“RFP”) from Manitoba Innovation, Energy and Mines. In 
April 2011, BacTech was awarded the contract by the Mines Branch of the Manitoba Department of 
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Innovation, Energy and Mines.  The contract was finalized in December 2011.  BacTech has proposed a 
“no cost to the taxpayer” approach to the clean up.  The Company will recover payable metals for its own 
account from the stockpile, while stabilizing the contained arsenic.  

 
In May 2011, BacTech announced the completion of a drill program carried out at the 

arsenopyrite concentrate stockpile.  A total of 299.3 meters of sonic drilling were completed in 33 holes.  
The holes were drilled on a grid at 20 m spacing to obtain a representative sample from the entire 
stockpile.  One half of the core was retained in Snow Lake as a permanent record, with half the core taken 
for geochemical, metallurgical and bioleach testing samples.  Some 432 geochemical samples were taken 
at 50 cm intervals of which 236 were used for a resource calculation.  Saskatchewan Research Council in 
Saskatoon completed the fire assaying.  In July 2011, the Company released the drill results of the 
program.  An average grade of 9.7 g/t gold was obtained from the 33-hole program, which is consistent 
with previous historic results. Given the large number of samples, the Company advises the reader to visit 
the BacTech website at www.bactechgreen.com to view a complete list of the drill holes and related 
samples. 

 On October 17, 2011, the Company announced the results of a National Instrument 43-101 
technical report for the Snow Lake, Manitoba, arsenopyrite residue stockpile (ARS) compiled by Ralph 
Newson, P.Geo., the independent qualified person who authored the report. The following information is 
based on the technical report on the Snow Lake Project which is available on the System for Electronic 
Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com, and also on the Company’s website. The 
technical report outlines a measured mineral resource of 265,000 tonnes grading 9.7 grams per tonne gold 
and 2.17 g/t silver for the stockpile. In addition, an indicated mineral reserve of 9,300 tonnes grading 9.2 
g/t gold and 2.15 g/t silver is estimated, as is a further inferred mineral reserve of 28,000 tonnes grading 7 
g/t gold and 2.4 g/t silver.  The samples were assayed at Inspectorate Exploration and Mining Services 
Ltd. in Richmond, B.C., an approved assay facility.  The accompanying table outlines the total ounces for 
the various resource calculations.   

                                       Gold                  Silver 
                         Tonnes       (g/t)    Ounces         (g/t)    Ounces 
 
Measured resource      265,000        9.7     82,643         2.17     18,488 
Indicated resource           9,300        9.2       2,750         2.15          642 
Inferred resource           28,000        7.0       6,300         2.4         2,160 

   

The drill samples collected from the arsenopyrite stockpile were also used to determine the 
metallurgical variability of the stockpile, evaluate pre-treatment scenarios and costs, continue bioleach 
work on a larger scale for gold extraction, as well as to study the detox/arsenic stability for the oxidized 
end product. 

On March 20, 2012, the Company announced results of the bioleach study program it had been 
working on for  several months.  The patented BACOX bio-oxidation process oxidized over 95 per cent 
of the sulphides.  This study definitively demonstrates the technology’s ability in eliminating future acid 
mine drainage and the environmental problems associated with the stockpile, which is one of the key 
drivers of the project.  In addition, the bio-oxidation process rendered 88.6 per cent of the gold contained 
in the sulphides available for extraction, compared with only 9.4 per cent using conventional gold 
extraction without oxidation.  

http://www.sedar.com/
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The bioleach study is an integral part of the Preliminary Economic Assessment (“PEA”) prepared 
by Micon International Limited, which was announced by press release on August 27, 2012, with the full 
PEA released on October 12, 2012. The PEA demonstrates an economic project to remediate the ARS at 
current market conditions. The following summary is taken from the press release and the PEA which are 
filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com, and on the Company’s website.  

The Bioleach Process will generate two (2) streams; one (1) being a stable ferric arsenate 
precipitate preventing any further leaching of arsenic into the environment; and two (2) will be a gold 
residue concentrate. BacTech is presently negotiating with the Town of Snow Lake to acquire a property 
for the bioleach plant that sits adjacent to the ARS. This will provide for relatively easy access to and 
from the plant and keep noise and dust at a minimum. Approximately 1.4 km from the proposed plant site 
are several clay pits that were recently excavated to source clay for projects in the local area. It is 
BacTech’s intention to pipe and safely dispose of the stable ferric arsenate to one of the nearby pits for 
storage, water recycling, and subsequent clay capping at the end of the project. Concurrent with the PEA, 
BacTech has engaged Golder Associates to provide baseline environmental studies for the proposed plant 
site and the clay impoundment pits, as well as formal submission of environmental operating permits and 
closure plan to Manitoba Conservation. 

In November 2012, the Company completed the drilling of  test holes with a continuous flight 
auger drill rig on the proposed bioleach plant site to provide detailed data on the site conditions to begin 
the Front End Engineering Design (“FEED”) – civil specifications for the plant and tank farm areas. In 
addition, the Company submitted their Environmental Act Proposal (“EAP”) to the Director of the 
Environmental Assessment and Licensing Branch, Manitoba Conservation and Water Stewardship. The 
EAP was completed by Golder Associates Ltd. of Winnipeg, Manitoba, under direction by the BacTech 
technical team.  In February of 2013, BacTech’s EAP was posted for public comments by the 
Environmental Approvals Branch of the Manitoba Department of Conservation and Water Stewardship.   
The deadline for submission of comments was March 15, 2013. The Company has received the comments 
and is in the process of preparing responses to all comments and will have the formal responses submitted 
for review in May 2013.   
 

In January 2013, the Company engaged the services of Tetra Tech to provide FEED for the 
bioleach plant. Tetra Tech has extensive engineering and design knowledge with regards to the bioleach 
process and will be responsible for the process overview, equipment review and specifications, and other 
associated process details. The FEED work should be completed in May 2013. The results of the FEED 
package will be the basis for the detailed design engineering phase of the Snow Lake plant that will 
include civil, mechanical, electrical, and process automation. 

 
Future Plans 
 

 As disclosed in the press release dated August 27, 2012, the proposed Snow Lake bioleach plant 
is designed to treat 109 tonnes of concentrate per day from the ARS. This provides for a project life of 
approximately 7 years to remediate the ARS safely and benefit from an annual gold production of 10,400 
oz/y. At a base case gold price of US$1,396/oz and 88.6% gold recovery (the 3 year trailing average gold 
price at the time of the Micon PEA), the direct operating cost is $671/oz gold. Royalties and the cost for 
gold recovery through offsite toll treatment add $302/oz, bringing the total cash cost to $973/oz. CAPEX, 
including a 10% contingency for the project, is estimated to be CAD$21.4 million. BacTech continues to 
identify and evaluate additional feeds that potentially can add to the operational life of the plant. 
 

The operations include BacTech transporting the oxidized gold (post bioleaching) to a 3rd party 
for gold recovery. This is an expensive process that adds significant costs to the operations.  The 
Company is searching for a more permanent and inexpensive method for years 2 and onward. One 

http://www.sedar.com/
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possible solution includes the installation of its own CIL plant for recovering gold in Snow Lake.  The 
process to apply for the appropriate permits could take up to 12 months for approval which is after the 
start date of the plant.   

 
Patent: Bioleaching Process Produces Liquid Ferric Sulfate 
 
In June 2012, the Company filed a provisional patent application for a new invention relating to 

bioleaching. The patent application covers the use of bioleaching as a means of manufacturing liquid 
ferric sulphate. 
 

Ferric sulfate is a staple chemical with a wide range of applications. In conventional water 
treatment processes, it is commonly used as a coagulant to remove turbidity, colour, phosphate, and heavy 
metals. In the mining industry, ferric sulfate is not only a leaching lixiviant in various processes treating 
copper concentrates and uranium ores, but also a reagent commonly used to control arsenic in metal 
mining effluents.  
 

The discovery of the invention arises from BacTech’s bioleach work at Snow Lake, Manitoba. 
The invention provides for the onsite production of ferric sulfate using pyrite as a source and thereby 
eliminating the costly transportation of the liquid product. With the formula FeS2, pyrite is the most 
common sulfide mineral and is widely associated with other metal sulfide deposits. Unless it contains 
valuable metals to be recovered, pyrite is usually rejected into tailings through the flotation processes at a 
mine site. Such tailings represent a large disposal problem because pyrite gets oxidized and generates 
sulfuric acid after being exposed to air and water. With this new invention, mine tailings at existing 
operations can be refloated to provide a cheap source of material for the creation of ferric sulfate.  
 

The current business plan encompasses the selling of single bioleach tank plants that can be 
delivered and built onsite for the customer. The single bioleach plant is envisioned to be ideal for remote 
locations where ferric sulfate cannot be obtained or in larger high volume locations to eliminate the costly 
and hazardous trucking of ferric sulfate through urban areas.  The payback for the investment by the 
customer should be relatively short, given the low cost of pyrite feed stock and simple, unsophisticated 
operation of the bioleach plant.  
 

The provisional patent is an alternative application of REBgold Corporation’s bioleaching 
technology. BacTech owns a perpetual, exclusive license to the bioleach technology for tailings’ 
reclamation and is allowed, under the agreement with REBgold Corporation, to own any improvements 
made to the technology. The Company and REBgold Corporation have negotiated an amendment to the 
licence agreement to specifically address the use of this application, which, as of the date of this report, 
has not been finalized. This patent is the invention of various contractors to the Company and they have 
assigned their rights in the invention to the Company subject to the terms of a royalty agreement.   

 
The Company is exploring possible partnerships or strategic agreements with other companies 

that already operate in this industry. 
 
Bolivia 

 
In January 2013, the Company announced that it had signed a Memorandum of Understanding 

(“MOU”) with the Corporación Minera de Bolivia (“COMIBOL”), the state-owned mining company, for 
the Telamayu tailings site in Bolivia.  Telamayu is a former mill site and consists of two tailings deposits 
created through custom milling for numerous mines in the area. Highlights of the MOU include:  
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• COMIBOL and BacTech will be 50/50 partners in a Joint Venture (“JV”) Bolivian company;  
• COMIBOL will provide the JV with suitable tailings for reprocessing and make existing 

infrastructure available; 
•  BacTech holds the right to export concentrates from the Telamayu Tailings site for bioleaching 

at its discretion; and 
• BacTech will provide all capital necessary to undertake a study of the Telamayu tailings, 

including flotation and bioleach testwork.  
 

BacTech had previously announced assay results from a composite sample taken in May 2012 
from one of the two tailings sites. Silver and copper values were 282 g/t and 1.7% respectively, 
illustrating the high-grade nature of the tailings. This compared favorably with COMIBOL's results from 
a 2005 sampling and assay program that reported 258 g/t Ag and 1.05% Cu. The composite sample was 
bagged, sealed at the Telamayu mill and then shipped to Lima, Peru by SGS  Bolivia S.A. ("SGS"), and 
subsequently transferred to Inspectorate Exploration and Mining Services Ltd. ("Inspectorate") for 
assaying. A representative of SGS supervised the sampling program. The assay work on the composite 
sample was conducted by Inspectorate in Vancouver, Canada.   
 

COMIBOL has estimated that there are approximately 2.3million tonnes of tailings attributable to 
the above assay results, and across the river lie an additional 3 million tonnes  of tailings from the same 
sources. To date, no investigation has been initiated at the larger site. In addition, there are two additional 
tailings sites within 50 km that could be investigated in the future. 
 

The Company’s next steps include completing the floatation and bioleach testwork to assess the 
projects economic viability.  If economically positive, BacTech’s preliminary plan includes the 
installation of  a flotation  plant at the Telamayu site to produce a concentrate that will be exported to a 
nearby country for bioleach treatment. At present, BacTech is entertaining different scenarios for locating 
a bioleach plant to process concentrates from Bolivian tailings.   Access to limestone and power costs are 
just two factors that need to be taken into consideration.   A decision will be made this year should the 
project prove to be economic.  

 
Other Projects 
 
The Company continues to evaluate other projects in Canada, Mexico, South America and 

Europe.  
 

C. Selected Annual Information 

 The following table presents selected financial information in Canadian dollars ($), for each of 
the three most recently completed financial years, and have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).   

 
 2012 2011 2010 

 $ $ $ 
    
Revenues Nil Nil Nil 
Net loss for the year (1,377,396) (1,409,600) (557,569) 
Net loss per share (0.03) (0.04) (0.06) 
Total assets 1,325,321 487,176 299,253 
Total liabilities 942,064 584,411 445,795 
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The Company had its first two full years of operations for the years ended December 31, 2012 
and 2011.  The operations in fiscal 2010 only reflect operations starting from October 5, 2010, as a result 
of the Company being created on that date. 

 
 The Company continues to not generate any revenue. The funds raised from the exercise of 

warrants and options, and the 4 private placements completed in December 2010, June 2011 and January 
2012 and November 2012, as well as the long term debenture in June 2012, have been used for general 
working capital, advancing the Snow Lake Project, as well as pursuing other projects of interest.  The 
most significant assets on the balance sheet are the deferred exploration cost for the Snow Lake Project, 
which represent $842,144 of the total assets reported of $1,325,321. 

 
D. Results of Operations 

 
This analysis of the results of the Company’s operations should be read in conjunction with the 

Company’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

Revenues 

The Company has no revenue or sources of recurring revenues at this time.   

Operating and Administrative Costs 

Operating and administrative expenses were $1,220,124 for the year ended December 31, 2012, 
compared to $1,133,763 last year.  Significant components of this expense include:  

1. Salaries, management fees and related costs decreased to $389,736 for the year ended December 
31, 2012, from $437,129 in the same period last year.  These costs are for the salaries, wages and 
management fees incurred directly in managing and operating the business of the Company, 
which includes the investigation and evaluation of potential projects.  As the Company further 
pursues the Snow Lake Project, higher level management consulting fees have been capitalized, 
which reduces the annual expenses; 

2. Share based payments, as explained in note 14 to the audited annual consolidated financial 
statements, were $205,988 for the nine months ended December 31, 2012 compared to $132,101 
last year.  Yearly fluctuations in stock option expense are dependent on a number of factors 
including, but not limited to, number of options issued, valuation of options, vesting period and 
timing. For the current year ended December 31, 2012, 1,500,000 new options were granted.  For 
the year ended December 31, 2011, 250,000 options were granted. The expense for the current 
period is based on the valuations of options granted in both the current period which are 
recognized as an expense in the current period, based on the portion of options vested in the 
current period;  

3. Professional fees increased to $167,765 for the year ended December 31, 2012, from $120,632 
last year.  Legal fees and professional fees were incurred on project-related expenses, financings, 
patent applications, Preliminary Economic Study, and general corporate purposes.  The level of 
activity relative to last year has increased significantly, mainly due to the Snow Lake project, 
which resulted in higher professional fees; 

4. Costs associated with shareholder information and investor relations decreased to $177,483 for 
the year ended December 31, 2012, from $235,793 last year.  Management continues to use 
third-party investor relations programs to assist with raising awareness about the Company, but 
on a limited basis relative to the prior year.  In 2012, the Company developed a video to describe, 
in simple terms, the bioleach process which is available on the Company’s website; 

5. Travel costs increased to $151,300 for the year ended December 31, 2012, from $114,429 last 
year.  These costs are for travel incurred to source and evaluate projects, as well as capital 
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fundraising tasks in the current period. Costs have increased in the current period as a result of 
the higher level of travel to Snow Lake, Manitoba as a result of advancing the project; and 

6. General office expenses increased to $123,360 for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared 
to $93,089 last year.  These are expenses for the general corporate office located in Toronto. The 
increase is mainly due to the increase in office rental costs which is the result of increased floor 
space for the head office and Manitoba office, as well as an overall modest increase in office 
equipment and supplies. 
 
Finance Charges 
 
Debenture interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased to $62,139 compared 

to $15,230 last year.   The debenture interest is made up of BacTech’s portion of the debenture issued by 
REBgold Corporation (for both years), plus the additional interest expense in 2012 from BacTech’s own 
convertible debenture issued in April 2012. Please refer to note 11 to the audited annual consolidated 
financial statements for year ended December 31, 2012. 

 
Accretion expense is related to the Company’s debentures as described in note 11 to the audited 

annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2012.   This expense reflects 
the difference, which is recognized as an expense over the life of the debenture, between the face value of 
the debenture and the fair value at which it is reported in the Company’s balance sheet. Accretion expense 
for the year ended December 31, 2012 increased to $89,964, compared to $13,833 last year.  The 
significant increase in accretion expense is due to the new convertible debenture issued in April 2012 by 
the Company, as explained in note 11 to the annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2012. 

  
E. Liquidity and Capital Resources 

 
At December 31, 2012, the Company had cash of $409,583 and working capital of $43,245.  The 

funds raised from the exercise of warrants and options, the two private placements completed in October 
2012 and January 2012, as well as the debenture financing in April 2012,  were used for general working 
capital and advancing the Snow Lake Project.   

 
On October 3, 2012,  BacTech closed a private placement of common share units at a price of 

$0.15 per Unit. Option Three Advisory Services Limited (“Option Three”) subscribed for $1,450,000 
(9,666,666) units.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one non-transferable common share 
purchase warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.17 for a 
period of 360 days from the first anniversary of the date of issue. The warrants can be exercised prior to 
the first anniversary of the date of issue provided that, after giving effect to the exercise, the holder shall 
not directly or indirectly own more than 19.99% of the issued and outstanding common shares of 
BacTech. The common shares and warrants were subject to a four month hold period. 

 
Between April 25, 2012 and May 3, 2012, the Company closed two tranches totaling $585,000 of 

private placement subscriptions whereby the Company issued 58.5 units, with each unit being comprised 
of a 2-year $10,000 principal convertible redeemable debenture ("Debenture") and 50,000 common share 
purchase warrants. The Debentures mature on April 25, 2014 and bear  interest at a fixed rate of 12% per 
year payable quarterly starting June 30, 2012.  Under the terms of the 2-year Debentures, the holders of 
the Debentures have the option to convert their Debentures in full into common shares at a price of $0.20 
per share.   
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On January 18, 2012, the Company issued 705,000 units at $0.20 per unit for gross proceeds of 
$141,000. Each unit consisted of one common share and one half of one common share purchase warrant, 
with each whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.30 until January 18, 2013.  Prior to January 1, 2012, 
the Company had collected $64,000 related to the private placement which was recorded at the end of the 
reporting period as shares to be issued.  The warrants related to this private placement have now expired. 

 
On June 29, 2011, the Company issued 2,500,000 units in its first tranche of a non-brokered 

private placement at a price of $0.20 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of $500,000.  Each unit 
consisted of one common share and one half of one common share purchase warrant.  Each whole warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share at a price of  $0.30 for one year from the date of 
closing.  Subsequently, on July 15, 2011, the Company completed the second tranche for the private 
placement for total gross proceeds of $100,000 under the same terms as the original tranche.  
 

Between January 1, 2011 and May 3, 2011, REBgold warrant holders exercised a total of 
2,205,167 warrants to purchase 2, 205,167 REBgold common shares for gross proceeds of $2,198,100. As 
per the terms of the Arrangement, the Company was obligated to issue 4,510,331 common shares to these 
REBgold warrant holders, and the Company is entitled to 17% of the proceeds for a total of $373,687.  In 
addition, warrant holders exercised 255,000 warrants for 255,000 common shares of the Company for 
gross proceeds of $43,350, and option holders exercised 150,000 options for 150,000 common shares of 
the Company for gross proceeds of $30,000. 

 
 

Share Capital  
 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011 

 
Number of 

shares $ Amount 
Number of 

shares $ Amount 
     
Balance, beginning of period 38,383,361 1,631,624 29,246,673 357,190 
Shares issued – property termination payment - - 1,221,356 244,271 
Shares issued pursuant to exercise of  
        REBgold warrants - - 

 
4,510,332 

 
373,687 

Shares issued for cash pursuant to a  
         private placement 10,371,666 1,527,000 

 
3,000,000 

 
600,000 

Exercise of warrants - - 255,000 43,350 
Fair value from exercise of warrants - - - 5,279 
Exercise of options - - 150,000 30,000 
Future share issuance - - - 64,000 
Fair value from exercise of options - - - 14,940 
Less:     
  Warrant fair value from shares issued - (689,074) - (67,500) 
  Share issue costs - (90,781) - (33,593) 

Balance, end of period 45,755,027 2,378,769 38,383,361 1,631,624 
 

For a description of the outstanding warrants and stock options that are available to purchase 
common shares of the Company, please refer to notes 13 and 14 of the audited annual consolidated 
financial statements.  

F. Fourth Quarter  

The Company continued with developing the Snow Lake project.  There were no substantive 
changes in administrative expenses and continue to be consistent with previous three quarters in 2012.  
Some investigative work was completed on other future projects, but was limited in nature, as the 
Company is trying to focus its efforts and resources on the Snow Lake Project.  The focus of the 
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Company is to advance the Snow Lake Project as fast as possible in order to start the operation and 
generate cash flow.   

G. Quarterly Information  

 Selected quarterly information for the most recently completed quarter is presented below in 
Canadian currency ($), and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  
 

 2012    2011           
 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3    Q2 Q1        

 $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s $000’s        
Revenues - - - - - - - -        
Operating loss (374) (499) (277) (207) (458) (228) (240) (484)        
Loss for the period (374) (499) (277) (207) (458) (228) (240) (484)        
                
Loss per share (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.02)        
 
 

H. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of December 31, 2012 or December 31, 

2011.  
 

I. Financial Instruments 
 

 The Company has not entered into any specialized financial arrangements to minimize its 
investment risk, currency risk or commodity risk. 
 

J. Outlook 
 

The current volatile state of the capital markets and the high price for precious and base metals 
has significantly increased the level of activity for companies in the resource sector or in the remediation 
and reclamation of mine waste and tailings.   Even though there is a heightened activity and interest from 
the capital markets in companies in these sectors, there can be no assurance that the Company will be 
successful in attracting either new financing or new opportunities to apply its technology. 

 
K. Risks 

 
The Company’s strategy emphasizes developing projects in order to leverage its intellectual 

property and drive the creation of shareholder value.  This strategy has required, and continues to require, 
significant financings, and is subject to risks associated with mineral prices, mineral resources and 
operations.  Due to the nature of the Company’s business, the present stage of development of its projects, 
and the constraints placed upon the Company’s ability to move forward by its current liquidity situation, 
readers should carefully review and consider the financial, environmental and operational risk factors 
affecting the Company. 
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Need for Additional Financing 
The Company currently has no source of operating cash flow, and there is no assurance that 

additional funding will be available to the Company as and when needed for further assessment and 
evaluation, as well as development of its projects, or to fulfill its obligations to its existing creditors. 
Volatile markets may make it difficult or impossible for the Company to obtain adequate debt or equity 
financing in the future, or on terms acceptable to the Company. The failure to obtain additional financing 
could force the Company to liquidate its assets to satisfy creditor claims. 

 
Dependence on Management 
The Company’s business and operations are dependent on recruiting and retaining the services of 

a small number of key members of management and qualified personnel.  The success of the operations 
and activities of the Company are dependent, to a significant extent, on the efforts and abilities of the 
management of the Company.  Investors must be willing to rely, to a significant extent, on the discretion 
and judgment of the management of the Company.  Furthermore, while the Company believes that it will 
be successful in attracting qualified personnel and retaining its current management team, there can be no 
assurance of such success.  The Company does not maintain key employee insurance on any of its 
employees. 

 
Competition 
The Company competes with other engineering companies for the acquisition of mineral rich 

mine tailings and mine waste that can be developed economically.  The Company competes with other 
engineering companies that have greater financial and technical resources and experience.  Such 
competition may result in the Company being unable to acquire desired properties, to recruit or retain 
qualified employees, or to acquire the capital necessary to fund its operations and develop its properties. 
The inability of the Company to compete with other engineering companies for these resources would 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and business. 

 
Currently, the Company’s bioleaching technology does not operate in an overly competitive 

marketplace; however the Company anticipates that it may face increased competition in the future, as 
advanced technologies become available. While management believes that the Company’s technology is 
more advanced, commercially proven and better situated than its competitors, there can be no assurance 
that the Company will be able to effectively compete with companies who have or may develop similar 
technologies and may possess greater financial resources and technical facilities. Competitive pressures, 
or the inability of the Company to successfully license its technology on terms that are acceptable, may 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.   

 
Protection of Intellectual Property Rights 
The Company is dependent not only on its ability to protect its intellectual property rights, but 

also upon the protection of rights of third parties from which it may license intellectual property rights. 
The Company currently holds patent rights and has pending patent applications. In addition, the Company 
relies upon certain other technologies,  ideas, know how, secrets or other information, which it may not be 
able to protect.  Notwithstanding precautions the Company may take to protect its rights, third parties 
may copy or obtain and use the Company’s proprietary and licensed or optioned technologies, ideas, 
know how, secrets and other proprietary information without authorization or independently develop 
technologies similar or superior to the Company’s proprietary and licensed or optioned technologies. The 
Company enters into confidentiality and restriction on use agreements with its employees, strategic 
partners and others; however, these agreements may not provide meaningful protection of the Company’s 
proprietary and licensed or optioned technologies or other intellectual property in the event of 
unauthorized use or disclosure.  Policing unauthorized use of such technologies and intellectual property 
is extremely difficult, and the cost of enforcing the Company’s rights through litigation may be 
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prohibitive.  Further, the laws of jurisdictions other than Canada and the United States may not provide 
meaningful protection of the intellectual property rights of the Company and such third parties.   

 
Obtaining and Enforcing Patents 
The patent positions of technology firms, including the Company, are generally uncertain and 

involve complex legal and factual questions.  The Company’s success in utilizing and licensing its 
bioleaching technology will depend, in part, on its ability to obtain, enforce and maintain patent 
protection for its technology worldwide.  The Company cannot be assured that patents will issue from any 
pending applications or that claims now or in the future allowed under issued patents will be sufficiently 
broad to protect its technology.  In addition, no assurance can be given that any patents issued to or 
licensed by the Company will not be challenged, invalidated, infringed or circumvented, or that the rights 
granted thereunder will provide continuing competitive advantages to the Company.  Furthermore, there 
is no assurance that the patents of others will not impede the ability of the Company to do business or that 
others will not independently develop similar products or technologies, duplicate any of the Company’s 
products or technologies or, if patents are issued and licensed to the Company, design around the 
Company’s patented product or technology. 

 
Accordingly, the Company may not be able to obtain and enforce effective patents to protect its 

proprietary rights from use by competitors, and the patents of other parties could require the Company to 
stop using or pay to use certain intellectual property, and as such, the Company’s competitive position 
and profitability could suffer as a result.  
 

Claims of Infringement of Proprietary Rights of Others 
The Company is not currently aware of any claims asserted by third parties that the Company’s 

intellectual property infringes on their intellectual property.  However, in the future, third parties may 
assert a claim that the Company infringes on their intellectual property.  As a result, there is a risk that the 
Company, or one or more of its licensors, may become subject to litigation alleging that the products or 
technologies of the Company or its licensors infringe on the proprietary rights of third parties.  Whether 
or not the products or technologies infringe on the proprietary rights of third parties, the Company or such 
licensors could incur significant expenses in defending allegations of infringement of proprietary rights.  
Further, the Company or such licensors may be required to modify their products or obtain licenses for 
intellectual property rights as a result of any alleged proprietary infringement which may not be 
achievable on commercially reasonable terms, in a timely manner, or at all, any of which could adversely 
affect the Company’s business revenue, results from operations and financial condition.   

 
Conflicts of Interest 
Certain of the Company’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers of other 

reporting companies, companies providing services to the Company, or companies in which they may 
have significant shareholdings.  To the extent that such other companies may participate in ventures in 
which the Company may participate, the directors of the Company may have a conflict of interest in 
negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. In the event that such a 
conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the Company's directors, a director who has such a conflict will 
abstain from voting for or against the approval of such participation or such terms. 

 
From time to time, several companies may participate in the acquisition, assessment and 

evaluation, and development of mineral reclamation properties, thereby allowing for the participation in 
larger programs, permitting involvement in a greater number of programs and reducing financial exposure 
in respect of any one program. It may also occur that a particular company will assign all or a portion of 
its interest in a particular program to another of these companies due to the financial position of the 
company making the assignment. 
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In accordance with the laws of Canada, the directors of the Company are required to act honestly, 
in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. In determining whether or not the Company will 
participate in a particular program and the interest therein to be acquired by it, the directors will primarily 
consider the degree of risk to which the Company may be exposed and its financial position at the time. 
 

L. Other MD&A Requirements 
 

Additional information related to the Company is filed electronically on the System for Electronic 
Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com.  

http://www.sedar.com/
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